EXCEED-DM: Extended Calculation of Electronic Excitations for Direct Detection of Dark Matter

Tanner Trickle*

Theory Division, Fermi National Accelerator Laboratory, Batavia, Illinois, 60510, USA (Dated: October 28, 2022)

Direct detection experiments utilizing electronic excitations are spearheading the search for light, sub-GeV, dark matter (DM). It is thus crucial to have accurate predictions for any DM-electron interaction rate in this regime. EXCEED-DM \bigcirc (EXtended Calculation of Electronic Excitations for Direct detection of Dark Matter) computes DM-electron interaction rates with inputs from a variety of *ab initio* electronic structure calculations. The purpose of this manuscript is two-fold: to familiarize the user with the formalism and inputs of EXCEED-DM, and perform novel calculations to showcase what EXCEED-DM is capable of. We perform four calculations which extend previous results: the scattering rate in the dark photon model, screened with the numerically computed dielectric function, the scattering rate with an interaction potential dependent on the electron velocity, an extended absorption calculation for scalar, pseudoscalar, and vector DM, and the annual modulation of the scattering rate in the dark photon model.

^{*} ttrickle@fnal.gov

CONTENTS

I. Introduction	3
II. Formalism	7
A. Electronic State Configuration	7
B. Transition Matrix Elements	9
C. Calculations	10
1. Binned Scatter Rate	10
2. Absorption Rate	12
3. Dielectric Function	14
III. Inputs to EXCEED-DM	15
A. Input File	15
B. Electronic Configuration File	18
IV. Applications	22
A. DM-Electron Scattering Rate Screened with Numeric Dielectric Funct	ion 23
B. DM-Electron Scattering Rate with Electron Velocity Dependent Oper	ator 30
C. Extended Absorption Calculation	31
D. Annual Modulation of DM-Electron Scattering Rate	33
V. Summary and Future Development	35
Acknowledgments	38
A. Installation of EXCEED-DM	38
B. Effective Lagrangian to Scattering Form Factor	39
C. Transition Matrix Elements for Bloch States	43
References	44

I. INTRODUCTION

Discovering the nature of dark matter (DM) is one of the most important goals in all of physics. Constituting 26.5% of the universe's energy density [1], DM is roughly five times more abundant than ordinary matter; yet any understanding of its particle content eludes us. One class of ongoing experiments, which search for DM-Standard Model interactions in a laboratory, are known as direct detection experiments. The canonical example of a direct detection experiment looks for nuclear recoils induced by a scattered DM particle. Many of these experiments have been performed, or are proposed, e.g., LUX [2], SuperCDMS [3], ANAIS [4], CRESST [5], SABRE [6], DAMA [7], PandaX [8], DAMIC [9], NEWS-G [10], LZ [2], XENON10/100/1T [11–13], KIMS [14], DM-Ice [15], DarkSide [16], and the absence of any signal has led to stringent bounds on a wide variety of DM models. However, all of these experiments share a common kinematics problem when looking for DM with mass lighter than a GeV; when the DM mass drops below the target nucleus mass, the energy deposited in a scattering event rapidly falls below the detection threshold.

This is an unfortunate problem because many well-motivated DM models can possess a light, sub-GeV, DM candidate (see Refs. [17–19] for recent reviews). This problem has been remedied by an extraordinary influx of new detection ideas for covering this region of DM parameter space (see Refs. [19–22] for recent reviews). Currently, the preeminent method for searching for sub-GeV DM is via electronic excitations across band gaps in crystal targets [23–61]. With band gaps of $\mathcal{O}(eV)$, DM with masses as light as $\mathcal{O}(MeV)$ can be searched for via a scattering event, and $\mathcal{O}(eV)$ masses can be searched for via absorption. Experiments such as SuperCDMS [62–64], DAMIC [65–69], EDELWEISS [70–72], SENSEI [73–75], and CDEX [76] are currently in operation searching for DM induced electronic excitations with a combination of Silicon (Si) and Germanium (Ge) targets. Similar targets utilizing electronic excitations with smaller, $\mathcal{O}(meV)$, band gaps such as spin-orbit coupled materials [24, 77], Dirac materials [46, 56, 57], and superconductors [54, 55, 58] have also been proposed.

The calculation of DM-electron interaction rates in these targets is more involved than the standard nuclear recoil calculation. This is because electrons in crystal targets cannot be treated as free states. The crystal creates a lattice potential, distorting the electronic wave functions. Therefore, estimates of DM-electron interaction rates are crucially dependent on how the electronic wave functions, and band structure, are modeled. With experiments already being performed, and the nature of DM still unknown, it is crucial to have the tools to make predictions for the broadest set of DM models [39, 78]. The earliest calculations used analytic approximations of the wave

functions, along with the measured density of states to account for the band structure [51, 61]. Then the QEDark [50] program was introduced, and was the first to incorporate electronic wave functions, and band structures, computed with density functional theory (DFT) in calculations of the DM-electron scattering rate. This was a monumental step forward, creating a connection between first principles condensed matter calculations and particle physics observables which exists today [20, 22]. Additionally, an extension of QEDark, QEDark-EFT [38, 39], has been introduced to generalize the set of DM models for which DM-electron scattering can be computed. Recently it was shown that, in some simple DM models, the DM-electron interaction rate could be related to the (\mathbf{q}, ω dependent) dielectric function [40, 43]. This rewriting rigorously included screening effects, which had previously been assumed to be small. While projections for the DM-electron interaction rate in these models were made with DFT calculations and simplified models of the dielectric function, the longer term vision is to use the experimentally measured dielectric function to circumvent the uncertainties associated with DFT calculations. The program DarkELF [42] was introduced to compute DM-electron interaction rates from input dielectric functions.

In parallel with these developments, EXCEED-DM \bigcirc (EXtended Calculation of Electronic Excitations for Direct detection of Dark Matter) [44, 79] has also been developed. Similar to QEDark, EXCEED-DM utilizes *ab initio* DFT calculations of the target electronic structure. Previous versions of EXCEED-DM have been used to compute DM-electron scattering in a variety of target materials [23, 44], DM-electron absorption for a variety of DM models [34], as well as DM-electron interaction rates in more novel, spin-orbit coupled targets [24]. With similar goals as the previously discussed programs, it is important to distinguish how EXCEED-DM, specifically the newest version, v1.0.0, differentiates itself. EXCEED-DM has three main advantages relative to QEDark, the current standard for these calculations:

- DFT calculator independence. QEDark is intrinsically linked to Quantum Espresso [80, 81], a specific program for performing DFT calculations. The accuracy of the electronic wave functions and band structure are limited to the accuracy of inputs, and calculational methods used within Quantum Espresso. EXCEED-DM has no dependence on the DFT calculator, and calculations have been performed with input from Quantum Espresso and VASP [82–85]. Any DFT calculator which can output the electronic structure can be converted to an EXCEED-DM input file.
- Additional calculations. In addition to DM-electron scattering rate calculations, EXCEED-DM can perform DM-electron absorption calculations. While for some DM models, absorp-

tion on electrons can be related to the long wavelength dielectric function, $\varepsilon(0, \omega)$, for other models this is not possible [24, 34]. Moreover, within DM-electron scattering rate calculations, EXCEED-DM does not make assumptions about target isotropy, allowing for anisotropic targets (and daily modulation effects [23]) to be studied.

• Variety of electronic state approximations. QEDark performs calculations with the Bloch electronic wave functions expanded in a plane wave basis. This basis works well for states close to the Fermi surface. For states farther away from the Fermi surface this approach becomes computationally problematic since larger momentum cutoffs are needed, especially for states lower in the band structure [44]. EXCEED-DM allows the user to add other electronic state approximations, such as a linear combination of Slater type orbital functions, to the electronic configuration, in addition to those expanded in a plane wave basis. While v1.0.0 only includes a few different approximations, future extensions can be added with relative ease.

Additionally, there are miscellaneous technical advantages, e.g., EXCEED-DM is parallelized with OpenMPI versus OpenMP used in QEDark, which allows for a greater degree of parallelization, and therefore faster calculations. In principle, all previous QEDark calculations can be performed with EXCEED-DM with appropriate conversion of Quantum Espresso output to EXCEED-DM input. This may be useful when comparing the results of previous calculations.

The QEDark-EFT extension to QEDark can compute DM-electron scattering rates for a wider variety of DM models, under the same approximations about the electronic states. Therefore the main advantages of EXCEED-DM are still present relative to QEDark-EFT. While EXCEED-DM does not currently have routines for calculating DM-electron scattering rates for general operators, the primitive building blocks, discussed in Sec. II B, are available. Moreover, EXCEED-DM is structured such that calculations of more general DM-electron scattering rates need only be written, and coded, in terms of transition matrix elements, $\mathcal{T} \equiv \langle F | \mathcal{O} | I \rangle$, in order to be added. This separates the pieces of the calculation dependent on the electronic state approximations, from the observables being computed. Adding new models is straightforward, and in Sec. IV B we discuss computing the DM-electron scattering rate via a scattering potential dependent on the electron velocity which arises from a very simple DM model.

EXCEED-DM serves a different purpose than DarkELF, which can compute DM-electron interaction rates, for some DM models, starting from the dielectric function. EXCEED-DM is compatible with DarkELF since it can compute the (\mathbf{q}, ω dependent) dielectric function, which can then be used as input to DarkELF. Additionally, EXCEED-DM can account for screening effects, the importance of which was emphasized in Refs. [40, 43]. There are two ways to account for screening in EXCEED-DM, via an analytic model of the dielectric function, or using a pre-computed dielectric function. An analytic model for screening was used previously in Ref. [44] and in Sec. IV A we use the dielectric function computed with EXCEED-DM to screen the DM-electron interactions. However, this is not the only pre-computed dielectric function one can use; if available, a file containing the measured dielectric function can also be used to screen the interaction.

The goal of this paper is to familiarize a user with the types of calculations that can be performed with EXCEED-DM, first by introducing a formalism which encompasses all the calculations, and then detailing the inputs to EXCEED-DM and performing new calculations. While these new calculations will serve as examples, they are also new physics results in their own right, and are the most precise determination of DM-electron interaction rates in Si and Ge detectors to date. Our goal is not to derive all the relevant DM-electron interaction formulas from first principles (these are studied in detail in numerous other, referenced, works), but rather illustrate how EXCEED-DM can be used once these formulas are derived.

This paper is organized as follows, in Sec. II we discuss the framework under which the EXCEED-DM calculations are performed. While the formalism for DM-electron interaction rates has been developed previously, it is often developed for different purposes, and therefore written in slightly different languages. Since EXCEED-DM can perform many different calculations it is important to have a common theoretical formalism for all the calculations. Moreover, this makes it clear the language in which future extensions, e.g., calculations for other DM models or different electronic state approximations, need to be written in for easy addition to EXCEED-DM. In Sec. II A we discuss the electronic configuration and the approximations regarding the initial and final states that can be used. In Sec. II B we discuss the *transition matrix element*, the key link between different electronic state approximations and calculations of observables. Calculations in EXCEED-DM are functions of the transition matrix elements, and the transition matrix element is only a function of the electronic configuration. In Sec. II C we overview the calculations that can be performed in v1.0.0 of EXCEED-DM. In Sec. III we discuss the input files needed to perform a calculation with EXCEED-DM. In Sec. IV we perform four new calculations with EXCEED-DM to illustrate what it can do, and how it can be used for publication quality results. Lastly, in Sec. V we discuss future extensions to EXCEED-DM.

II. FORMALISM

EXCEED-DM is built to compute DM-electron interaction rates, e.g., DM scattering and absorption rates. While the formalism of DM-electron interactions has been previously discussed many times [23, 24, 28, 34, 35, 38–40, 43, 46, 50, 51, 57, 59], rarely is there a unifying theme to these derivations; each is usually performed for a specific type of interaction, or approximation concerning the electronic states. However, since the purpose of EXCEED-DM is to compute any of these interaction rates, the building blocks must be abstracted away from a specific calculation. In this section we will introduce these building blocks abstractly, and then discuss the explicit realizations which are currently implemented in EXCEED-DM. This should provide a solid foundation for future extensions relying on the same abstract building blocks, but with different realizations.

A. Electronic State Configuration

The principal building block is the electronic state, represented as $|I\rangle$. These are unit normalized, $\langle I|I\rangle = 1$, eigenstates of the target Hamiltonian, \hat{H}_0 ,

$$\ddot{H}_0|I\rangle = E_I|I\rangle. \tag{1}$$

A target is then nothing more than a collection of (orthonormal) electronic states $\{|I\rangle\}$. Within a target we can define two types of these electronic states: initial, those that are initially filled and final, those that are empty and may be transitioned to. An *electronic state configuration*, or *electronic configuration*, is simply a collection of initial and final electronic states, $\{\{|I\rangle\}, \{|F\rangle\}\}$.

Clearly, an electronic state configuration depends on the target material, e.g., a Si target will contain a different set of initial and final electronic states than a Ge target. An electronic configuration file is the main target dependent input to EXCEED-DM.¹ Moreover, this is where approximations about the target can enter; a different combination of electronic states constitutes a different approximation about the target. Both initial and final electronic states in the electronic configuration file may be chosen from the available electronic state approximations.

Currently, the available electronic state approximations are specific to crystal targets, i.e., those with a periodic potential. By Bloch's theorem these states can be indexed by a band number, i, and a momentum vector, \mathbf{k} , which lies inside the first Brillouin zone (1BZ). We will refer to these

 $^{^{1}}$ See the documentation \blacksquare for more detailed information on explicitly constructing the electronic configuration file.

states specifically as *Bloch states* throughout. The position space representation of these states is

$$\langle \mathbf{x}, s | i, \mathbf{k} \rangle = e^{i\mathbf{k} \cdot \mathbf{x}} u_{i,\mathbf{k},s}(\mathbf{x}) \tag{2}$$

where s is the component of the spin in the $\hat{\mathbf{z}}$ direction, and $u_{i,\mathbf{k},s}$ are the, periodic and dimensionless, Bloch wave functions,

$$u_{i,\mathbf{k},s}(\mathbf{x}+\mathbf{r}) = u_{i,\mathbf{k},s}(\mathbf{x}), \qquad (3)$$

where **r** is a lattice vector. Therefore a Bloch state can be represented by a function which returns $u_{i,\mathbf{k},s}$. Note that this allows for another layer of abstraction; to implement other approximations for Bloch states one only needs to extend the Bloch wave function implementation with methods for computing $u_{i,\mathbf{k},s}$. There are three different types of Bloch states which can currently be used in an electronic configuration file, each corresponding to a different basis: bloch_PW_basis, bloch_STO_basis, and bloch_single_PW. Different coefficients must be supplied for each basis.

The bloch_single_PW are simply plane waves,

$$u_{\mathbf{p},\mathbf{k}(\mathbf{p})}(\mathbf{x}) = e^{i(\mathbf{p}-\mathbf{k}(\mathbf{p}))\cdot\mathbf{x}}$$
(4)

which only requires specifying a momentum vector, \mathbf{p} , for which the corresponding $\mathbf{k} \in 1BZ$ is determined.²

In the bloch_PW_basis basis, the coefficients, $\widetilde{u}_{i,\mathbf{k},s,\mathbf{G}}$ must be specified to define the Bloch wave function,

$$u_{i,\mathbf{k},s}(\mathbf{x}) = \sum_{\mathbf{G}} e^{i\mathbf{G}\cdot\mathbf{x}} \widetilde{u}_{i,\mathbf{k},s,\mathbf{G}} \,. \tag{7}$$

In the bloch_STO_basis the Bloch wave functions are a linear combination of Slater type orbitals (STOs) [86, 87] of each atom in the unit cell. The bands are indexed by the principal quantum numbers, n, ℓ, m , as well at the index of the atom in the unit cell, κ ,

$$u_{\kappa,n,\ell,m,\mathbf{k}}(\mathbf{x}) = \sqrt{\Omega} \sum_{\mathbf{r}} e^{-i\mathbf{k}\cdot\mathbf{y}_{\mathbf{r},\kappa}} \sum_{j} C_{j,\ell,n,\kappa} R_{\mathrm{STO}}(y_{\mathbf{r};\kappa}, Z_{j,\ell,\kappa}, n_{j,\ell,\kappa}) Y_l^m(\hat{\mathbf{y}}_{\mathbf{r},\kappa}), \qquad (8)$$

$$R_{\rm STO}(r;Z,n) = a_0^{-3/2} \frac{(2Z)^{n+\frac{1}{2}}}{\sqrt{(2n)!}} \left(\frac{r}{a_0}\right)^{n-1} e^{-Zr/a_0}$$
(9)

 2 When a bloch single PW state is included as a final state, a Fermi factor, F,

$$F(\nu) = \frac{\nu}{1 - e^{-\nu}} \tag{5}$$

$$\nu(Z_{\text{eff}}, E) = 2\pi Z_{\text{eff}} \frac{\alpha m_e}{\sqrt{2m_e E}} \,, \tag{6}$$

is used $(|F\rangle \rightarrow \sqrt{F(\nu)}|F\rangle)$, to account for the fact that the final state wave function is not completely free. See Refs. [16, 44, 50, 51, 61] for more details.

where Ω is the size of the unit cell, $\mathbf{y}_{\mathbf{r},\kappa} \equiv \mathbf{x} - \mathbf{r} - \mathbf{x}_{\kappa}$, \mathbf{x}_{κ} is the position of the atom in the unit cell.³ Therefore to specify a bloch_STO_basis state, the central ingredients are the STO coefficients $\{C_{j,\ell,\kappa}, Z_{j,\ell,\kappa}, n_{j,\ell,\kappa}\}$. A standard resource for these coefficients are tabulated for $2 \leq Z \leq 54$ at Ref. [86]. They are also included in the utilities/RHF_wf_data/RHF_wf_data.hdf5 file in the EXCEED-DM repository \bigcirc for convenience.

B. Transition Matrix Elements

Generally, DM-electron interaction rates cause an electron from an initial state to transition to a, higher energy, final state. Fundamentally this means that the most important quantity to compute are matrix elements between initial and final states, or *transition matrix elements*,

$$\mathcal{T}_{IF}(\hat{\mathcal{O}}) = \langle F|\mathcal{O}|I\rangle, \qquad (10)$$

where \mathcal{O} is some quantum mechanical operator generating the transition between initial state $|I\rangle$ and final state $|F\rangle$. These transition matrix elements are the basis of EXCEED-DM. Given an electronic configuration, EXCEED-DM computes the resulting transition matrix elements, in parallel, which are then used in calculations of a specific observable, e.g., DM-electron scattering. The connection between the transition matrix elements and available calculations is discussed in Sec. II C. This places the transition matrix elements directly between the approximations concerning the electronic states in the target, and those which concern the observable. Moreover, any observable which can be written in terms of the transition matrix elements can, in theory, be computed with EXCEED-DM.

Currently, there are six transition form factors which can be computed,

$$\mathcal{T}_1(\mathbf{q}) \equiv \langle F | e^{i\mathbf{q} \cdot \mathbf{x}} | I \rangle \tag{11}$$

$$\mathcal{T}_{\mathbf{v}}(\mathbf{q}) \equiv \langle F | e^{i\mathbf{q}\cdot\mathbf{x}} \, \mathbf{v} | I \rangle \tag{12}$$

$$\mathcal{T}_{v^2}(\mathbf{q}) \equiv \langle F | e^{i\mathbf{q}\cdot\mathbf{x}} v^2 | I \rangle \tag{13}$$

$$\mathcal{T}_{\sigma}(\mathbf{q}) \equiv \langle F | e^{i\mathbf{q}\cdot\mathbf{x}} \,\sigma | I \rangle \tag{14}$$

$$\mathcal{T}_{\mathbf{v}\cdot\boldsymbol{\sigma}}(\mathbf{q}) \equiv \langle F|e^{i\mathbf{q}\cdot\mathbf{x}} \left(\mathbf{v}\cdot\boldsymbol{\sigma}\right)|I\rangle \tag{15}$$

$$\mathcal{T}_{\mathbf{v}\times\boldsymbol{\sigma}}(\mathbf{q}) \equiv \langle F|e^{i\mathbf{q}\cdot\mathbf{x}} \left(\mathbf{v}\times\boldsymbol{\sigma}\right)|I\rangle, \qquad (16)$$

where $\mathbf{v} \equiv \mathbf{p}_e/m_e$, \mathbf{p}_e is the electron momentum operator, $\boldsymbol{\sigma}$ are the Pauli matrices, and we have left the I, F implicit, for readability. Additionally, each of these operators can be computed in the

 $^{^{3}}$ In theory the sum over lattice vectors **r** should extend to infinity, however since the atomic wave functions are rapidly decaying, it is usually a good approximation to keep only the nearest neighboring cells.

 $\mathbf{q} \to 0$ limit where the exponential factor, $e^{i\mathbf{q}\cdot\mathbf{x}}$, is dropped. Typically, the $\mathbf{q} \to 0$ limit operators are only used in absorption calculations.

For each electronic state approximation, new routines must be added to compute these \mathcal{T} . For example, for the Bloch states discussed in Sec. II A, $\mathcal{T}_1(\mathbf{q})$, between an initial state indexed by $I = \{i, \mathbf{k}\}$, and a final state indexed by $F = \{f, \mathbf{k}'\}$, is given by,

$$\mathcal{T}_{i,f,\mathbf{k},\mathbf{k}'}^{1}(\mathbf{q}=\mathbf{k}'-\mathbf{k}+\mathbf{G}) = \frac{1}{\Omega}\sum_{s}\int_{\mathrm{UC}} d^{3}\mathbf{x} \, e^{i\mathbf{G}\cdot\mathbf{x}} u_{f,\mathbf{k}',s}^{*} u_{i,\mathbf{k},s} \,, \tag{17}$$

where Ω is the volume of the unit cell (UC). See App. C for the derivation and general form of \mathcal{T} for the other operators in Eqs. (11) - (16).

C. Calculations

With the electronic state configuration and transition matrix elements defined, any DM-electron interaction rate written in terms of these quantities can, in principle, be added to EXCEED-DM and computed. Currently there are three calculation types supported, binned_scatter_rate, absorption_rate, and dielectric which are discussed in detail below. While each of these calculations computes a specific quantity, other variables in the input file, see Sec. III, can be set to specify different parameters to be used in the calculation. For example, the DM-electron scattering rate computed inside binned_scatter_rate can account for a variety of scattering form factors, which is useful when studying a variety of DM models. The purpose of this section is to give the explicit, general formulas that each calculation is computing, to understand the scope of each calculation. We will not give derivations for each of these formulae, and encourage the reader to follow the references for more details about individual calculations.

1. Binned Scatter Rate

We begin by discussing the DM-electron scattering rate calculation. A single formula for DMelectron scattering, per kg-year exposure, R, derived in a variety of other papers [23, 24, 38– 40, 43, 50, 51], encompasses a wide number of physical processes. Assuming the scattering rate does not depend on the DM velocity, R is given by,

$$R = \frac{\pi \bar{\sigma}_e}{V \mu_{\chi e}^2 m_\chi} \frac{\rho_\chi}{\rho_T} \sum_{IF} \int \frac{d^3 \mathbf{q}}{(2\pi)^3} f_{\mathrm{scr}}^2 \mathcal{F}_{\mathrm{med}}^2 g(\mathbf{q}, E_F - E_I) \mathscr{F}_{IF}(\mathcal{T}) \,, \tag{18}$$

where $\bar{\sigma}_e$ is a reference cross section, dependent on the couplings in the UV Lagrangian, m_{χ} is the DM mass, $\mu_{\chi e}$ is the DM-electron reduced mass, ρ_{χ} is the DM density, ρ_T is the target density,

FIF_id	\mathscr{F}_{IF}
'SI'	$ \mathcal{T}_1 ^2$
'SD'	$rac{1}{3} \mathcal{T}_{m{\sigma}} ^2$
'VA1'	$\frac{1}{\alpha^2 m_e^2} \left(4m_e^2 \mathcal{T}_{\mathbf{v}} ^2 + 2m_e \mathcal{T}_1(\mathbf{q} \cdot \mathcal{T}_{\mathbf{v}}^*) + 2m_e \mathcal{T}_1^*(\mathbf{q} \cdot \mathcal{T}_{\mathbf{v}}) + q^2 \mathcal{T}_1 ^2 \right)$

TABLE I. Scattering form factors, \mathscr{F}_{IF} , currently provided with EXCEED-DM, written in terms of the transition matrix elements, \mathcal{T} , in Eqs. (11) - (16). Different scattering form factors can be specified by changing the FIF_id flag in the dm_model input group discussed in Sec. III. Note the 'SD' scattering form factor is only available for two component wave functions; for spin degenerate electronic states it becomes $\propto |\mathcal{T}_1|^2$.

V is the target volume, I, F index the initial and final electronic states in the target and \mathbf{q} is the momentum transferred to the target. We will now go through each of the terms in the integrand in detail. $g(\mathbf{q}, \omega)$ is the *kinematic function*, encoding the DM velocity distribution dependence,

$$g(\mathbf{q},\omega) = 2\pi \int d^3 \mathbf{v} f_{\chi}(\mathbf{v}) \,\delta\left(\omega - \mathbf{q} \cdot \mathbf{v} + \frac{q^2}{2m_{\chi}}\right) \,, \tag{19}$$

where $f_{\chi}(\mathbf{v})$ is the DM velocity distribution, in the lab frame. A standard choice for velocity distribution is the Standard Halo Model (SHM) [88, 89] which has three parameters, the velocity spread, v_0 , the galactic escape velocity, $v_{\rm esc}$, and the Earth velocity relative to the galactic center, \mathbf{v}_e . The kinematic function for the SHM model is known analytically,

$$g(\mathbf{q},\omega) = \frac{2\pi^2 v_0^2}{qN_0} \left(e^{-v_-^2/v_0^2} - e^{-v_{\rm esc}^2/v_0^2} \right)$$
(20)

$$v_{-} = \min\left\{\frac{1}{q} \left| \omega + \frac{q^2}{2m_{\chi}} + \mathbf{q} \cdot \mathbf{v}_e \right|, v_{\rm esc}\right\}$$
(21)

$$N_0 = \pi^{3/2} v_0^2 \left[v_0 \text{erf} \left(v_{\text{esc}} / v_0 \right) - \frac{2 v_{\text{esc}}}{\sqrt{\pi}} \exp \left(- v_{\text{esc}}^2 / v_0^2 \right) \right], \qquad (22)$$

where erf is the error function.⁴ Annual and daily modulation effects, e.g., the daily modulation rate in an anisotropic target, considered in Ref. [23], enter the calculation through specific choices of $\mathbf{v}_e(t)$.

 $f_{\rm scr}$ and $\mathcal{F}_{\rm med}$ in Eq. (18) parameterize the propagator dependence. $f_{\rm scr}$ incorporates screening effects due to mixing between the propagating dark particle, e.g., a dark photon, and the photon. In the absence of screening effects, $f_{\rm scr} = 1$, but different DM models can introduce different screening

⁴ While EXCEED-DM defaults to using the SHM (with user specified values of the velocity parameters), other velocity distributions may be readily added in the future, given a new kinematic function, g, Eq. (20), is provided.

factors. The primary example where screening is important is in a model with a dark photon coupling to the electron vector current, analogous to the Standard Model photon. In this case, the screening factor is dependent on the dielectric function,

$$f_{\rm scr} = \frac{1}{\hat{\mathbf{q}} \cdot \boldsymbol{\varepsilon}(\mathbf{q}, \omega) \cdot \hat{\mathbf{q}}} \,. \tag{23}$$

EXCEED-DM allows the user to set $f_{\rm scr}$ to 1, use an analytic model for $\varepsilon(q,\omega)$ [90], or use a precomputed dielectric function in an external file. $\mathcal{F}_{\rm med}$ is the mediator propagator, not including screening effects, parameterized by β ,

$$\mathcal{F}_{\rm med} = \left(\frac{\alpha m_e}{q}\right)^{\beta} \,, \tag{24}$$

where $\beta = 0$ for a heavy mediator, and $\beta = 2$ for a light mediator.

The last term to discuss in Eq. (18) is the scattering form factor, \mathscr{F}_{IF} . This is intrinsically DM model dependent, and will take different forms depending on the DM model. Table II contains the currently supported options in EXCEED-DM, useful for a range of DM models. See Appendix B for a (partial) derivation from a general UV Lagrangian to \mathscr{F}_{IF} in terms of the transition matrix elements. Adding new \mathscr{F}_{IF} can be done with relative ease within the EXCEED-DM codebase since \mathscr{F}_{IF} need only be a function of the transition matrix elements; one does not have to worry about deriving the relevant formulas in terms of electronic wave functions, which may be very different depending on the initial and final state approximations.

In addition to the total scattering rate given in Eq. (18), EXCEED-DM computes the scattering rate binned in energy and momentum deposition, i.e., the *binned scatter rate*. This is a matrix, R_{ij} , whose (i, j) component contains the total event rate for events with ω, q in

$$(i-1) \times \Delta \omega < \omega - E_g < i \times \Delta \omega \tag{25}$$

$$(j-1) \times \Delta q < q < j \times \Delta q \tag{26}$$

where $\Delta \omega, \Delta q$ are the bin widths, E_g is the band gap, and we assume the first index is one. R_{ij} is defined such that $R = \sum_{ij} R_{ij}$, for any choice of $\Delta \omega, \Delta q$.⁵

2. Absorption Rate

We now turn to the absorption rate calculation. Similar to the DM-electron scattering rate calculation, the formalism has been studied in detail previously [24, 28, 34, 35, 59]. The general

⁵ The last bin, i.e., $i = N_{\omega}$ or $j = N_q$, is special. It contains the event rate for events with $\omega > (N_{\omega} - 1) \times \Delta \omega$, and $q > (N_q - 1) \times \Delta q$. This is to ensure $\sum_{ij} R_{ij} = R$ is satisfied for any choice of $N_{\omega}, N_q, \Delta \omega, \Delta q$.

particle_id	$\delta \mathcal{L}$	Wave Function Type	$\Pi^{\eta}_{\hat{\phi}\hat{\phi}}$
'scalar'	$g_e \phi ar e e$	SI/SD	$\frac{g_e^2}{4}\bar{\Pi}_{v^2,v^2}$
'ps'	$i q_e \phi ar e \gamma^5 e$	SI	$g_e^2 \frac{m_\phi^2}{4m_e^2} \sum_i \bar{\Pi}_{v^i,v^i}$
P-	-367-7	SD	$g_e^2 \frac{m_\phi^2}{4m_e^2} \bar{\Pi}_{\mathbf{v}\cdot\boldsymbol{\sigma},\mathbf{v}\cdot\boldsymbol{\sigma}}$
'vector'	$g_e \phi_\mu \bar e \gamma^\mu e$	SI/SD	$g_e^2 \frac{m_\phi^2 \left[\bar{\Pi}'_{\mathbf{v},\mathbf{v}}\right]^\eta}{m_\phi^2 - e^2 \left[\bar{\Pi}'_{\mathbf{v},\mathbf{v}}\right]^\eta}$

TABLE II. Absorption rate calculations available in EXCEED-DM. Specify a model with the particle_id variable in the dm_model input group. Each model corresponds to an interaction Lagrangian, $\delta \mathcal{L}$. The pseudoscalar DM calculation is different depending on whether the input wave functions are one ("SI") or two ("SD") dimensional. $\bar{\Pi}_{\mathcal{O}_1,\mathcal{O}_2}$ and $\bar{\Pi}'_{\mathcal{O}_1,\mathcal{O}_2}$ are defined in Eq. (28) and Eq. (29), respectively. $[\bar{\Pi}'_{\mathbf{v},\mathbf{v}}]^{\eta}$ is shorthand for an eigenvalue of the 3×3 matrix, $\bar{\Pi}'_{\mathbf{v},\mathbf{v}}$.

absorption rate, R, per kg-year, of DM particle ϕ is given by,

$$R = -\frac{\rho_{\phi}}{\rho_T m_{\phi}^2} \frac{1}{n} \sum_{\lambda=1}^n \operatorname{Im} \left[\Pi_{\hat{\phi}\hat{\phi}}^{\lambda} (\bar{\Pi}_{\mathcal{O}_1,\mathcal{O}_2}) \right]$$
$$= -\frac{\rho_{\phi}}{\rho_T m_{\phi}^2} \frac{1}{n} \sum_{\lambda=1}^n \operatorname{Im} \left[\Pi_{\phi\phi}^{\lambda} + \sum_{\eta} \frac{\Pi_{\phiA}^{\lambda\eta} \Pi_{A\phi}^{\eta\lambda}}{m_{\phi}^2 - \Pi_{AA}^{\eta}} \right]$$
(27)

where ρ_{ϕ} is the DM density, m_{ϕ} is the DM mass, n is the number of degrees of freedom of ϕ , $\Pi^{\lambda}_{\hat{\phi}\hat{\phi}}$ is the self-energy of the ϕ -like state in medium, projected on to the λ th polarization. The difference between ϕ and the ϕ -like state is due to mixing effects between ϕ and A. $\Pi^{\lambda_1\lambda_2}_{\phi_1\phi_2}$ is the self-energy between the λ_1 polarization of ϕ_1 , and the λ_2 polarization of ϕ_2 (when $\phi_1 = \phi_2$, we simplify the notation by only having one polarization index, $\lambda_1 = \lambda_2 = \lambda$).

The self-energies in Eq. (27) can be written in terms of the transition form factors in the $\mathbf{q} \to 0$ limit. To simplify this we introduce $\bar{\Pi}_{\mathcal{O}_1,\mathcal{O}_2}$ which is a (polarization independent) self-energy computed from a one loop diagram [24, 34],

$$\bar{\Pi}_{\mathcal{O}_1,\mathcal{O}_2} \equiv \frac{1}{V} \sum_{IF} G(\omega, E_F - E_I, \delta) \mathcal{T}_{\mathcal{O}_1}(\mathbf{q} \to 0) \mathcal{T}^*_{\mathcal{O}_2}(\mathbf{q} \to 0)$$
(28)

$$\bar{\Pi}_{\mathcal{O}_1,\mathcal{O}_2}' \equiv \frac{1}{V} \sum_{IF} G(\omega, E_F - E_I, \delta) \left(\frac{\omega}{E_F - E_I}\right)^2 \mathcal{T}_{\mathcal{O}_1}(\mathbf{q} \to 0) \mathcal{T}_{\mathcal{O}_2}^*(\mathbf{q} \to 0)$$
(29)

$$G(\omega, \Delta\omega, \delta) = \frac{1}{\omega - \Delta\omega + i\delta} - \frac{1}{\omega + \Delta\omega - i\delta},$$
(30)

3. Dielectric Function

The last calculation included in EXCEED-DMv1.0.0 is of the dielectric function, $\varepsilon(\mathbf{q}, \omega)$, which can be computed from the Lindhard formula [92], and written in terms of \mathcal{T}_1 as,

$$\varepsilon(\mathbf{q},\omega) = 1 - \frac{e^2}{q^2 V} \sum_{IF} G(\omega, E_F - E_I, \delta) |\mathcal{T}_1|^2 , \qquad (31)$$

where G is defined in Eq. (30), e is the electromagnetic charge, and V is the target volume. We include this calculation in EXCEED-DM for two reasons. First, to provide a complete first principles calculation of DM-electron scattering rates, the screening factor in Eq. (23) should be computed under the same assumptions as the scattering form factor, \mathscr{F}_{IF} . Previous calculations with EXCEED-DM have utilized an analytic dielectric function [44], which can be remedied with v1.0.0, see Sec. IV A. Second, it has been shown that for a class of simple DM models, DM-electron interaction rates can be written solely in terms of the dielectric function [40, 43]. The package DarkELF can take input dielectric functions and then compute some DM-electron interaction rates, and therefore adding the dielectric function as an output to EXCEED-DM is useful for comparing different calculations.

Technically, the dielectric function in Eq. (31) is not what is computed. While the dielectric function in Eq. (31) is a function of \mathbf{q} , due to lattice momentum conservation it is only non-zero for $\mathbf{G} = \mathbf{q} - \mathbf{k}_F + \mathbf{k}_I$, where $\mathbf{k}_{I(F)}$ is the Bloch momentum of the initial (final) state, and \mathbf{G} is a reciprocal lattice vector. Therefore, the requested \mathbf{q} point may not be kinematically satisfied with the users choice of initial and final states. For example, if the datasets only contain $\mathbf{k}_I = \mathbf{k}_F = 0$, and \mathbf{q} is not a reciprocal lattice vector, the result would be zero. We try to avoid constraining the user to pick an appropriate set of \mathbf{q} points. The easiest way around this would be to keep track of all the \mathbf{q} that *are* included in the dataset, but an array of size $N_I \times N_F \times N_{\mathbf{G}}$ is generally too large to store.

⁶ We also introduce $\bar{\Pi}'$, which alters the ω scaling relative to $\bar{\Pi}$, to avoid computing terms which can analytically be shown to be zero. See Ref. [91] for a more detailed discussion. Note that in the $\delta \to 0$ limit, $\text{Im} [\bar{\Pi}] = \text{Im} [\bar{\Pi}']$, and therefore a converged calculation should be identical when computed with $\bar{\Pi}'$ or $\bar{\Pi}$.

To avoid these issues we compute an averaged dielectric function,

$$\bar{\varepsilon}(\mathbf{q}\operatorname{bin},\omega) \equiv \frac{1}{V_{\mathbf{q}\operatorname{bin}}} \int_{\mathbf{q}\operatorname{bin}} \varepsilon(\mathbf{q},\omega) d^{3}\mathbf{q}$$
(32)

$$=1-\frac{e^2}{VV_{\mathbf{q}\,\mathrm{bin}}}\int\frac{d^3\mathbf{q}}{q^2}\sum_{IF}G(\omega,E_F-E_I,\delta)|\mathcal{T}_1|^2\Theta(\mathbf{q}\in\mathbf{q}\,\mathrm{bin})\,,\tag{33}$$

where $V_{\mathbf{q} \text{ bin}}$ is the volume of the bin around \mathbf{q} . This has the benefits of including all \mathbf{q} points in the dataset, and the output is smaller in size since the sum is performed before saving the data. We compare this averaged dielectric function to the analytic model used previously [44] in Sec. IV A.

III. INPUTS TO EXCEED-DM

Before discussing specific applications of EXCEED-DM in Sec. IV, we will discuss the input files needed to run EXCEED-DM. For every calculation there are two necessary files: an input file containing a list of parameters to use for the calculation, and the electronic configuration file which contains all the information regarding the electronic configuration, discussed in more detail in Sec. II A. The discussion here regarding both of these input files is meant to serve as an introduction, so the setup of the calculations in Sec. IV is clear. A complete list of input parameters, and their defaults, can be found in the documentation P, as well as the full file specification for the electronic configuration file. A plethora of example input and electronic configuration files can be found in the example input and electronic configuration files can be found in the example input and electronic configuration files can be found in the example input and electronic configuration files can be found in the example input and electronic configuration files can be found in the example input and electronic configuration files can be found in the example input and electronic configuration files can be found in the examples of example input and electronic configuration files can be found in the examples of examples of the electronic configuration files can be found in the examples of examples of examples of examples of the electronic configuration files can be found in the examples of examples of electronic configuration files can be found in the examples of electronic configuration files can be found in the electronic configuration files can be found in the examples of electronic configuration files can be found in the el

A. Input File

The input file is just a text file where specific variables are specified in different *groups*. Each group contains a collection of variables relevant to that group. The group is specified inside brackets, '[]', and variables are specified below it. For example, the **control** group, contains the variables,

- calculation Specifying which calculation is performed.
- out folder Specifying the folder where the output file should be saved.
- run_description A short description of the calculation, appended to the end of 'EXDM_out_' when creating the output filename.

The corresponding input file would contain:

Input File	
[control]	
calculation	= 'binned_scatter_rate'
out_folder	= './examples/1/output/'
run_description	= 'example_1'

While most of the input parameters take a specific value, some allow an array to be specified. For example, in the dm_model group (containing information about the DM model to use in the calculation), any list of DM masses (in units of eV) can be specified in the mX variable,

Input File	
[dm_model]	
mX	= 1e6, 1e7, 1e8, 1e9,

A list of variables can also be specified vertically with the += operator, e.g.,

Input File	
[dm_model]	
mX	= 1e6
mX	+= 1e7
mX	+= 1e8
mX	+= 1e9
	÷

Note that DM masses can also be specified with the $mX_logspace$, $mX_linspace$ variables to add a logarithmically uniform, and uniform list of masses, respectively. See the documentation \blacksquare for more information about input file formatting specifics.

Currently, there are five main input groups which control a calculation:

- control Controls what calculations are performed and where the output files are saved.
- elec_config_input Contains information about the electronic configuration input file.
- material Specifies some target material parameters.
- dm_model Sets the DM model parameters, e.g. DM masses, mediator type, etc.
- astroph_model Sets the astrophysical parameters of the DM velocity distribution.

For each calculation there is also a numerics_<calculation> group which specifies some numerical parameters specific to that calculation, e.g., energy bin width in a scattering rate calculation. Having already discussed the control group above, we will now discuss, and give an example of each of these other groups.

The elec_config_input group is the simplest group, currently containing only a single variable, filename, which contains the path to the electronic configuration file,

```
[elec_config_input]
filename = './examples/1/elec_config.hdf5'
```

The material group, contains three main variables, name (the name of the material), rho_T_g_per_cm3 (the target mass density in g/cm³), and a_vecs_Ang, the three primitive lattice vectors, \mathbf{a}_i , in units of Å,

Inpi	ut File	
[mate	erial]	
	name	= 'Si'
	rho_T_g_per_cm3	= 2.281
	a_vecs_Ang	= 0.00000, 2.73437, 2.73437
	a_vecs_Ang	+= 2.73437, 0.00000, 2.73437
	a_vecs_Ang	+= 2.73437, 2.73437, 0.00000

An example dm_model group is

Input File	
[dm_model]	
mX	= 1e6, 1e7, 1e8, 1e8, 1e10
med_FF	= 0, 2
particle_type	= 'fermion'
FIF_id	= 'SI'
rho X GeV per cm3	= 0.4

where mX are, again, the DM masses in eV, med_FF is the power of the mediator form factor, β in Eq. (24), (note that more than one may be specified at once), particle_type is the type of DM particle, FIF_id specifies the scattering form factor, and rho_X_GeV_per_cm3 is the DM

T 1		1					•	•	1
Lactiv	\mathbf{n}	ovemple	anctro	nh r	nodal	oroun	10	GIVON	hv
Lasury.	an	CAAIIDIG	- astivi	י ווע	nouer	group	10	EIVEII	DV.
•//		· · ·				0		0	· ·/ /

Input File	
[astroph_model]	
vel_distribution_name	= 'SHM'
v_0_km_per_sec	= 230
v_esc_km_per_sec	= 600
v_e_km_per_sec	= 0, 0, 230
v_e_km_per_sec	+= 0, 0, 240
v_e_km_per_sec	+= 0, 0, 220

where vel_distribution_name is the name of the velocity distribution used,⁷ v_0_km_per_sec is the typical velocity parameter of the Standard Halo Model (SHM) in km/s, v_esc_km_per_sec is the galactic escape velocity at the location of the Earth in km/s, and v_e_km_per_sec is a list of Earth velocity vectors in the target crystal frame, i.e., the $\hat{\mathbf{x}}, \hat{\mathbf{y}}, \hat{\mathbf{z}}$ axes are taken to be the basis of the crystal lattice vectors, \mathbf{a}_i . Specifying a list of Earth velocity vectors allows daily and annual modulation signals to be calculated, see Sec. IV D for a more detailed discussion of annual modulation, and Refs. [23, 30, 45, 56] for a more detailed discussion of daily modulation signals.

B. Electronic Configuration File

The electronic configuration file is stored in a hierarchical data format (HDF5). The pros of this approach are that the data is compressed, and easily (quickly) read in to EXCEED-DM. The cons are that the data is not easy to edit or view without external programs. We recommend the use of HDFView and the python program h5py for viewing and manipulating these files. In this section we will discuss the structure of these files, and leave specific details to the documentation \blacksquare . This should make clear where future extensions may add their components, and aid in understanding the example electronic configuration files, elec_config.hdf5, in each example in the examples/ folder on the Github page \bigcirc . In the directory trees below, folders end with a backslash, and datasets do

⁷ Currently, only 'SHM' is available.

not. Extra folders/datasets may be included, but they will not be used in the calculations (without modification to EXCEED-DM). This is useful mainly to store explanatory metadata with the file.

At the highest level there is simply an $\mathsf{elec_states}$ folder with two similar subfolders, init, and fin,



elec_states contains the data about the electronic states, init holds the data about the initial (filled) electronic states, and fin holds the data regarding the final (unfilled) electronic states. The electronic state information inside the init, fin folders should be grouped by level of approximations, i.e., all the data in a subfolder should correspond to electronic states defined in that approximation. For example, all electronic states under the "Bloch" approximation, discussed in Sec. II A, should be inside a bloch folder:



and different approximations should go in their own folder. For the Bloch states there are further approximations, specifically what basis the states are in, e.g.,



and similarly for the fin states. Within each of these approximation subfolders there should be two folders containing the actual datasets, config, and state info, e.g.,



The config folder is meant to store data common among all of the states of the same approximation, whereas the state_info folder is meant to store arrays of data specific to each individual electronic state. For example, for the bloch/PW_basis states,



Other bases/approximations will have a different set of variables, see the documentation \square for the currently supported options. While most of the above entries should be clear, there are a few that deserve more clarification. The k_id_list array contains the index of that state's k vector, i.e., *i* if the 1BZ vectors are indexed with *i*: \mathbf{k}_i . jac_list represents the Jacobian of a given state when numerically computing the sum over the states, i.e.,

$$\frac{1}{N}\sum_{I} \to \sum_{i} j_{i} \,. \tag{34}$$

For example, consider of set of Bloch states, $I \in \{i, \mathbf{k}\}$, sampled uniformly in the 1BZ with $N_{\mathbf{k}}$ **k** points,

$$\frac{1}{N}\sum_{I} = \frac{1}{N}\sum_{i}\sum_{\mathbf{k}} = \Omega\sum_{i}\int_{1\mathrm{BZ}}\frac{d^{3}\mathbf{k}}{(2\pi)^{3}} \to \sum_{i}\sum_{\mathbf{k}}\frac{1}{N_{\mathbf{k}}}$$
(35)

$$j_I = \frac{1}{N_{\mathbf{k}}} \,. \tag{36}$$

In this case the Jacobian was simple, however it need not be and will depend on the electronic states specified. Consider a set of bloch/single_PW, {**p**} states, sampled logarithmically in $E = p^2/2m_e$ between E_{\min} and E_{\max} , and uniformly on the sphere in $(\theta_{\mathbf{p}}, \phi_{\mathbf{p}})$ space,

$$\frac{1}{N}\sum_{I} = \Omega \int \frac{d^{3}\mathbf{p}}{(2\pi)^{3}} = \frac{\Omega}{(2\pi)^{3}} \int dp \, p^{2} \int d\theta \sin\theta \int d\phi \,. \tag{37}$$

Uniformly sampling on the sphere involves changing variables to $\alpha = \phi/2\pi, \beta = (1/2)(1 + \cos\theta)$, and sampling uniformly between [0, 1] in α, β . Sampling logarithmically in E involves changing variables to $x = \ln E$, and sampling uniformly in x between $[\ln E_{\min}, \ln E_{\max}]$. Therefore Eq. (37) becomes

$$\frac{\Omega}{(2\pi)^3} \int dp \, p^2 \int d\theta \sin\theta \int d\phi \to \frac{\Omega}{(2\pi)^3} \frac{2\pi}{N_\alpha N_\beta N_x} \ln\left(\frac{E_{\max}}{E_{\min}}\right) \sum_{\alpha,\beta,x} p(x)^3 \tag{38}$$

$$j_I = \frac{\Omega}{(2\pi)^3} \frac{2\pi}{N_\alpha N_\beta N_x} \ln\left(\frac{E_{\text{max}}}{E_{\text{min}}}\right) p(x)^3 \tag{39}$$

where $I \in {\alpha, \beta, x}$. We see that the Jacobian is no longer as simple. Since the Jacobian is inherently tied to the combination of states in the electronic configuration, we leave it to the user to take care of defining these properly.

IV. APPLICATIONS

Practically, the best way to understand what EXCEED-DM can do is to see its applications. The example calculations in the examples folder offer an introduction to these calculations with small datasets. Additionally, EXCEED-DM has been used previously in a number of papers, see Refs. [23, 24, 34, 44, 52, 76, 93]. However, these papers have not gone in to detail on constructing the inputs for EXCEED-DM. Therefore the purpose of this section is two-fold: showcase the new additions to v1.0.0 of EXCEED-DM by performing new calculations, and explicitly detailing the input files so it is clear how to perform these calculations for other target materials, DM models, etc.

Our focus will be on Si and Ge targets, used in SuperCDMS [62–64], DAMIC [65–69], EDEL-WEISS [70–72], SENSEI [73–75], and CDEX [76]. The electronic configuration files are publicly available here s. The initial states contain a combination of states in the bloch_STO_basis and bloch_PW_basis, and the final states contain a combination of states in the bloch_PW_basis and bloch_single_PW basis. In the language of Ref. [44], these correspond to a set of "core" and "valence" initial states, and "conduction" and "free" final states. More specific details about the electronic states included in these files can be found in the documentation s. All of the calculations shown below can be done with these electronic configuration files combined with the input groups shown in each section. The raw output files can be downloaded here s. To avoid repetition, the material group variables in the input file for Si and Ge are,

				_	
5	-			_	
	1)				 ł
 	~	u	۰.		 -

[material]	
name	= 'Si'
rho_T_g_per_cm3	= 2.281
a_vecs_Ang	= 0.00000, 2.73437, 2.73437
a_vecs_Ang	+= 2.73437, 0.00000, 2.73437
a_vecs_Ang	+= 2.73437, 2.73437, 0.00000

Input File

[material]

name	= 'Ge'
rho_T_g_per_cm3	= 5.042
a_vecs_Ang	= 0.00000, 2.87981, 2.87981
a_vecs_Ang	+= 2.87981, 0.00000, 2.87981
a_vecs_Ang	+= 2.87981, 2.87981, 0.00000

respectively. These should be added to the calculation specific input groups discussed in each section below. We will also omit filename input variables which will be computer specific. Specifically, the out_folder, and run_description variables in the control group, and filename in the elec_config_input group.

This section is organized as follows, in Sec. IV A we will perform two new calculations. First, we will compute the average dielectric function, $\bar{\varepsilon}(q, \omega)$, with EXCEED-DM and compare it with the analytic dielectric function model used in Ref. [91] to screen the DM-electron interaction. Second, we will use this numerically computed dielectric function to screen the DM-electron scattering rate in the kinetically mixed dark photon model, and compare to the scattering rate with no screening, as well as the scattering rate from Ref. [44] which used the analytic dielectric function to screen the interactions. In Sec. IV B we study DM models beyond the simple dark photon model, and compute the DM-electron scattering rate in an example model which has a scattering potential dependent on the electron velocity. In Sec. IV C we compute scalar, pseudoscalar, and vector DM absorption rates up to DM masses of a keV. This extends the calculation done in Ref. [34] which was previously limited to only the lowest energy, valence \rightarrow conduction transitions. Lastly, in Sec. IV D we demonstrate EXCEED-DM's ability to compute modulation effects, and compute the annual modulation of the DM-electron scattering rate in the dark photon model.

A. DM-Electron Scattering Rate Screened with Numeric Dielectric Function

Our first application is a new calculation of the DM-electron scattering rate in the canonical, kinetically mixed, dark photon model [94]. As a quick review, this model contains a new, potentially broken, U(1) symmetry whose gauge field is the dark photon, A'_{μ} . The DM candidate is a new fermion, χ , which is charged under this new U(1) symmetry. The symmetries of the Lagrangian allow a kinetic mixing between the dark photon and photon,

$$\delta \mathcal{L} \supset \frac{\kappa}{2} F^{\mu\nu} F'_{\mu\nu} \tag{40}$$

with coupling parameter κ . This interaction can be rotated to the mass basis by shifting the photon field, $A_{\mu} \rightarrow A_{\mu} + \kappa A'_{\mu}$, generating small "dark electric" charges for the electrons,

$$\delta \mathcal{L} \supset -\kappa e A'_{\mu} \bar{e} \gamma^{\mu} e \,. \tag{41}$$

The DM-electron scattering rate can be shown to be in the form of Eq. (18) (see Ref. [44] and App. B) with,

$$\mathscr{F}_{IF} = |\mathcal{T}_1|^2 \tag{42}$$

$$f_{\rm scr} = \frac{1}{\varepsilon(q,\omega)} \tag{43}$$

where we have assumed that the targets are isotropic enough to approximate $\hat{\mathbf{q}} \cdot \boldsymbol{\varepsilon} \cdot \hat{\mathbf{q}} \approx \varepsilon$, and \mathcal{F}_{med} takes it standard form for the heavy/light mediator scenarios.

While this rate has been computed for Si and Ge targets many times, [38, 39, 44, 50–52, 61], only recently were screening effects included numerically. The most recent calculation using EXCEED-DM uses an analytic model for a dielectric function. While the calculation in Refs. [42, 43] includes the screening effect numerically, the all-electron reconstruction effects [36, 44], which alter the electronic wave functions near the Fermi surface, were ignored, along with more deeply bound "core" states, and high energy "free" states, in the language of Ref. [44]. The calculation here includes these effects by computing the dielectric function with EXCEED-DM, with the same electronic configuration as used previously (which includes "core" and "free" states, in addition to the all-electron reconstruction corrected valence and conduction states).

The input for the dielectric function calculation is,

smear_type	= 'gauss'
widths	= 0.2, 0.1, 1000
n_E_bins	= 1000
n_q_bins	= 500
E_bin_width	= 0.1 # eV
q_bin_width	= 0.1

where smear_type is a specific broadening applied to the imaginary part of the Greens function, G, in Eq. (30), widths is a specific parameterization of the electron width (widths = a, b, c corresponds to $\delta = \min \{a + b\omega, c\}$), and the other parameters define the binning parameters. The resultant



FIG. 1. Comparison of the dielectric function computed analytically with the model from Ref. [90], $\varepsilon_{\text{analytic}}$, to the dielectric function computed with EXCEED-DM, $\varepsilon_{\text{numeric}}$, for Si (left) and Ge (right) targets. These dielectric functions are used in the screening factor, Eq. (23), for the DM-electron scattering rate calculations. Since they are only used for scattering rate calculations, the only relevant differences between them are for kinematically allowed q, ω , sectioned off by the black lines. The dashed black line corresponds to the band gap, E_g , and the solid black line bounds $\omega < q/v_{\chi}^{\text{max}}$, where $v_{\chi}^{\text{max}} \sim 10^{-3}$. There are $\mathcal{O}(10\%)$ differences at small q, ω , which will propagate to slightly different DM-electron scattering rates for models that are screened. Both dielectric functions asymptote to one for large q, ω .

dielectric function is compared to the analytic model in Fig. 1,

$$\varepsilon(q,\omega) = 1 + \left[\frac{1}{\epsilon_0 - 1} + \alpha \left(\frac{q}{q_{TF}}\right)^2 + \frac{q^2}{4m_e^2\omega_p^2} - \left(\frac{\omega}{\omega_p}\right)^2\right]^{-1},\qquad(44)$$

defined in Ref. [90] with $\epsilon_0 = 11.3 (14)$, $\alpha = 1.563$, $\omega = 16.6 (15.2) \text{ eV}$, $q_{TF} = 4.13 (3.99) \text{ keV}$ for a Si (Ge) target. We find that the screening factor is dominated by low q, ω transitions, i.e., the dielectric function contribution from the "core" and "free" states is small, and in the kinematic regions where these transitions are dominant, the dielectric function can be approximated as one. Moreover, we only find $\mathcal{O}(10\%)$ changes between the analytic dielectric function model, and the numerically computed dielectric function. This will translate to an $\mathcal{O}(10\%)$ discrepancy in the DM-electron scattering rate when screened with the analytic model and EXCEED-DM computed dielectric function.

With the dielectric function computed, we now turn to computing the scattering rate with no screening, screening with the analytic dielectric function in Eq. (44), and screening with the numerically computed dielectric function in Eq. (31). Additionally, we will study the dependence on a heavy and light mediator. The screening independent input groups are,

Input File				
[control]				
calculation = 'binned_scatter_rate'				
[dm_model]				
$FIF_id = 'SI'$				
$mX_{logspace} = 20, 1e5, 1e10$				
mX = 1e6, 1e7, 1e8, 1e9				
$med_FF = 0, 2$				
[astroph_model]				
$v_0_km_per_sec = 230$				
v_e_km_per_sec = 0, 0, 240				
v_esc_km_per_sec = 600				
[numerics_binned_scatter_rate]				

= 1
= 4000
$= 1 \ \# \ \text{keV}$
$= 0.1 \ \# \ eV$

where mX and mX_logspace specify the DM masses to compute for, med_FF are $-d \log \mathcal{F}_{\text{med}}/d \log q$ values, we have chosen the same velocity distribution parameters as previous studies [44, 52], and we bin in ω , since we will also study the binned scattering rate. The screening dependent groups are written,

[screen	uingl		
Iscieci	ling]		
	type	= 'analy	/tic'
	alpha	= 1.563	
	e0	= 11.3	14
	omega_p	= 16.6	15.2
	q_tf	= 4.13	3.99
	t File		
[screer	iing]		
[screer	ing] type		= 'numeric'
[screer	ing] type dielectric_file	name	= 'numeric' =
[screer	ing] type dielectric_file E_bin_width	name	= 'numeric' = = 0.1 # eV
[screer	ing] type dielectric_file E_bin_width q_bin_width	name	= 'numeric' = = 0.1 # eV = 0.1 # keV

for the analytic screening, and numerically computed screening scenarios, respectively (no screening is the default, so no input groups have to be added). Entries in red are specific to Si targets, and those in blue specific to Ge targets. dielectric_filename is the path to the previously computed dielectric function, E_bin_width and q_bin_width are the specific binning parameters used when computing the dielectric function (note that they match the numerics_dielectric input previously discussed). width_id specifies which width parameterization to use (from widths input for dielectric function).

With the inputs discussed, we now discuss the results of the DM-electron scattering rate calcu-



FIG. 2. Prediction for the number of events in each energy bin, $\Delta \omega = 2 \text{ eV}$, in Si (top row) and Ge targets (bottom row) for the light (left column) and heavy (right column) kinetically mixed dark photon model, assuming a kg-year exposure. The DM mass is $m_{\chi} = 1 \text{ GeV}$, and $\bar{\sigma}_e = 10^{-40} \text{ cm}^2$. Dotted lines correspond to no screening, dashed lines correspond to screening with the analytic dielectric function in Eq. (44), and solid lines correspond to screening with the numerically computed dielectric function. We see that while the inclusion of screening is important, as noted in Refs. [42, 43], the difference between the analytic and numerically computed dielectric function, when used as the screening factor, is small.

lation. In Fig. 2 we compare the binned scattering rate in Si and Ge targets, assuming $m_{\chi} = 1 \text{ GeV}$, $\bar{\sigma}_e = 10^{-40} \text{ cm}^2$, and different models for the screening factor, f_{scr} . We find that while screening is an important effect, especially for small ω , the difference in using the analytic and numerically computed dielectric functions is small, $\mathcal{O}(10\%)$, with the difference being smaller in Ge than Si



FIG. 3. 95% C.L. constraints (3 events, no background) on DM-electron scattering cross section, $\bar{\sigma}_e$, in Si (top row) and Ge (bottom row) via kinetically mixed light (left column) and heavy (right column) dark photon models, assuming a kg-year exposure and different screening assumptions. Dotted lines correspond to no screening, as done in Ref. [52], dashed lines correspond to screening with the analytic model of the dielectric function, as done in Ref. [44], and solid lines correspond to screening with the numerically computed dielectric function. The different colors correspond to different electron number thresholds, $Q \ge 1, 2, 3$ for the red, yellow, and green curves, respectively.

targets. In Fig. 3 we compare the cross section constraints and find similar results for the other DM masses considered. Additionally, we show that the effects of screening for different electron-hole

pair number thresholds, Q, defined as,

$$Q = 1 + \left\lfloor \frac{\omega - E_g}{\varepsilon} \right\rfloor \tag{45}$$

where E_g is the target band gap, taken to be 1.11 eV for Si and 0.67 eV for Ge, ω is the energy deposited in a single electron transition, and ε is a material dependent quantity (not the dielectric function) which is taken to be 3.6 eV and 2.9 eV for Si and Ge targets respectively.

B. DM-Electron Scattering Rate with Electron Velocity Dependent Operator



FIG. 4. 95% C.L. (3 events, no background) constraints on the DM-electron scattering cross section, $\bar{\sigma}_e^{VA}$, given in terms of the couplings in Eq. (48). We assume a kg-year exposure of Si (left) and Ge (right) targets, assuming the DM model given in Eq. (46), and V_{μ} is light. The red, yellow, and green curves correspond to $Q \ge 1, 2, 3$, respectively.

Our next calculation involves a new DM model, different than the kinetically mixed dark photon from Sec. IV A. This DM model was chosen for two reasons: its simplicity, and the fact that the DM-electron scattering potential depends on the electron velocity. This generates a scattering rate dependent on the \mathcal{T}_{v} transition matrix element in Eq. (12), and therefore only calculable with a complete spectrum of electronic states with EXCEED-DMv1.0.0.⁸ The Lagrangian is given by,

$$\mathcal{L} \supset g_{\chi} V_{\mu} \bar{\chi} \gamma^{\mu} \chi + g_e V_{\mu} \bar{e} \gamma^{\mu} \gamma^5 e \,, \tag{46}$$

⁸ While QEDark-EFT [38, 39] also supports computing this DM-electron scattering rate, the calculation does not include all electron reconstructed valence and conduction states, and ignores the effects of 'core' and 'free' states, in the language of Ref. [44]. See Sec. I for more details on the discrepancies between the codes.

where V_{μ} is a, light ($m_V \ll \text{keV}$), dark photon, and χ is the DM candidate. The scattering form factor, derived in Appendix B, is given by,

$$\mathscr{F}_{IF} = \frac{1}{\alpha^2 m_e^2} \left(4m_e^2 |\mathcal{T}_{\mathbf{v}}|^2 + 2m_e \mathcal{T}_1(\mathbf{q} \cdot \mathcal{T}_{\mathbf{v}}^*) + 2m_e \mathcal{T}_1^*(\mathbf{q} \cdot \mathcal{T}_{\mathbf{v}}) + q^2 |\mathcal{T}_1|^2 \right) \,. \tag{47}$$

The reference cross section is,

$$\bar{\sigma}_e^{\rm VA} \equiv \frac{\mu_{\chi e}^2}{4\pi} \frac{\alpha^2 g_e^2 g_\chi^2}{\left(\alpha^2 m_e^2 + m_V^2\right)^2},\tag{48}$$

and there is no screening, $f_{\rm scr} = 1$. Fig. 4 contains the constraints on the reference cross section given in Eq. (48) in Si and Ge targets assuming a kg-year exposure. Explicit construction of a complete UV model, as well as further understanding of competing constraints, is beyond the scope of this work, see Ref. [95] for a DM model building focused discussion.

The calculation for the DM-electron scattering rate in this model is identical to the unscreened input in Sec. IV A, with FIF_id changed to correspond to Eq. (47), and we focus on a light mediator only,

📕 Input File 💻	
[control]	
calculation	= 'binned_scatter_rate'
[dm_model]	
FIF_id	= 'VA1'
med_FF	= 2

C. Extended Absorption Calculation

Our next example concerns a different transition process, DM absorption [24, 28, 34, 35, 46, 59]. In these examples an incoming DM particle deposits its mass energy to the target, driving a, nearly, vertical transition. For some DM models, this absorption rate can be related to the measured, long wavelength dielectric function, $\varepsilon(0, \omega)$. Specifically, in isotropic targets, e.g., Si and Ge, the absorption rates for axion-like particle and vector DM, e.g., a dark photon, models can be related to $\varepsilon(0, \omega)$. However, even a simple model of scalar DM cannot be related, see Ref. [34] for more details. Therefore the first principle calculations provided by EXCEED-DM serves three purposes: 1) in DM models which *cannot* be related to $\varepsilon(0, \omega)$, provide the only available calculation, 2) for DM models which *can* be related, the calculation provides a data driven check on the input electronic configuration, and 3) for novel targets, which do not have a rigorously measured $\varepsilon(0, \omega)$, EXCEED-DM can facilitate a comparison with previously considered targets.

In this section we extend the constraints on DM absorption via electronic excitations to a larger mass range, up to $m_{\phi} = 1$ keV, in the three DM models, scalar, pseudoscalar, and vector DM, considered in Ref. [24, 34]. The interaction Lagrangians of each model are given in Table II. The first principles calculations provided by EXCEED-DM for Si and Ge targets in Ref. [34] were limited to $m_{\phi} \lesssim 60$ eV due to a more general implementation not being available in previous versions of EXCEED-DM. Here we use an expanded electronic configuration which includes deeply bound core states, and high energy free states, in the language of Ref. [44].⁹

The inputs for the calculation are,

	Input File		
	[control]		
	calculation = 'absorption_rate'		
	[dm_model]		
	particle_type = 'vector' ('ps', 'scalar')		
	$mX_{logspace} = 100, 1, 1000$		
[numerics_absorption_rate]			
smear_type = 'gauss'			
	widths = $0.2, 0.1, 1000$		

where the particle_type input option specifies which DM model is considered in Table II, and the entries in numerics_absorption_rate follow the same conventions as those for numerics_dielectric in Sec. IV A.

The constraints on the couplings for the three DM models of interest, in Si and Ge targets assuming a kg-year exposure, are given in Fig. 5. Note that the couplings have been conventionally

⁹ There are minor differences in the electronic configurations used for the scattering rate calculation and the absorption rate calculations done here. This is due to the kinematics; because the transitions are vertical the states above and below the Fermi surface must be aligned on the same **k**-grid in the 1BZ. Both electronic configurations are available here \leq .



FIG. 5. Projected 95% C.L. constraints (3 events, no background) for scalar (left), pseudoscalar (middle), and vector (right) DM models with Si (red) and Ge (blue) targets with a kg-year exposure. Solid lines are constraints computed with EXCEED-DM and dashed lines are rescaled optical data from Ref. [96]. The results for $m_{\phi} \leq 60 \text{ eV}$ are in agreement with previous results from Ref. [34], and constraints for $60 \text{ eV} \leq m_{\phi} < 1 \text{ keV}$, which involve electronic states farther away from the Fermi surface, are the new addition to the calculation. Discrepancies with previous results at small m_{ϕ} are due to different smearing procedures. Agreement between the solid and dashed lines indicates a good approximation of the electronic configuration. RG (WD) stellar cooling bounds are taken from Ref. [97] ([98]). Direct detection constraints from Xenon10/100, Xenon1T, and SuperCDMS are taken from Refs. [47], [99], [100] respectively. The gray lines in the middle panel are predictions of the DFSZ ($0.28 \leq \tan \beta \leq 140$) and KSVZ axion models [1].

redefined,

$$\kappa = \frac{g_e}{e} \tag{49}$$

$$g_{aee} = g_e \tag{50}$$

$$d_{\phi ee} = \frac{M_{\rm Pl}}{\sqrt{4\pi}m_e}g_e\,,\tag{51}$$

where g_e is defined in the Lagrangian in Table II and $M_{\rm Pl}$ is the Planck mass.

D. Annual Modulation of DM-Electron Scattering Rate

In our last example, we will study a different aspect of DM-electron scattering in the kinetically mixed dark photon model than discussed in Sec. IV A. Here we will study the annual modulation of the DM-electron scattering rate signal [26, 50, 61, 101–103]. Annual modulation arises due to the Earths motion around the Sun; the Earths velocity relative to the DM wind changes as it revolves around the Sun, leading to changes in the DM velocity distribution. A signal which modulates annually would be a smoking gun signature of DM, since other backgrounds are not expected to have this feature.

Annual modulation has been studied previously in Si and Ge targets [26, 50, 61], and the while the calculation here is an improvement due to more accurate modelling of the electronic structure in Si and Ge, the largest discrepancies are in DM models where these high momentum, high energy differences in the electronic structure models are important. Moreover, the calculation here uses the specific velocity distribution parameters which have been recommended to be used in direct detection calculations [89]. One could also reproduce all the scattering rate results in Sec. IV A with the output data \blacksquare , and compare the dependence on the velocity distribution parameters. Our focus here will be on changing, v_e , while keeping v_0 , v_{esc} set to the recommended values [89]. The input file is the same as in Sec. IV A, with an updated astroph_model group,

Input File	
[astroph_model]	
$v_0_{km_per_sec}$	= 238
v_esc_km_per_sec	= 544
v_e_km_per_sec	= 0, 0, 235
v_e_km_per_sec	+= 0, 0, 250
v_e_km_per_sec	+= 0, 0, 265

the \mathbf{v}_e vectors we include in the calculation represent the average velocity, in the Galactic frame, $v_e = 250 \text{ km/s}$, and $\pm 15 \text{ km/s}$ fluctuations at its fastest/slowest over the year. Similar to Sec. IV A, these calculations screen the DM-electron scattering rate with the numerically computed dielectric. The direction of the \mathbf{v}_e vector is irrelevant for the isotropic targets of interest here, we choose the $\hat{\mathbf{z}}$ direction for simplicity. However, in anisotropic targets the direction will be important for daily modulation effects, and one can see how easy it is to add any list of \mathbf{v}_e vectors to compute the daily modulation of the DM-electron scattering rate in such targets.

The main quantity of interest when studying annual modulation is the annual modulation fraction, f_{mod} . Let us define three rates, R_+, R_-, R_0 which are the rates when $v_e = v_e^0 + 15 \text{ km/s}$, $v_e = v_e^0 - 15 \text{ km/s}$, and $v_e = v_e^0$, where $v_e^0 = 250 \text{ km/s}$, respectively. The annual modulation fraction is then defined as,

$$f_{\rm mod} \equiv \frac{R_+ - R_-}{R_0} \,. \tag{52}$$

In Fig. 6 we study f_{mod} , binned in energy deposition, for $m_{\chi} = 1 \text{ GeV}$ for Si and Ge targets. We find that the annual modulation fraction in both targets is generally greater than 10%. While the overall size of the modulation is consistent with previous studies [50, 61]. Interestingly, the behavior



FIG. 6. Annual modulation fraction, f_{mod} , in each energy bin, assuming $m_{\chi} = 1 \text{ GeV}$. In both Si (top row) and Ge (bottom row) targets, for both a light (left column) and heavy (right column) dark photon mediator, modulation fractions can be greater than 10%, and stay relatively large in higher ω transitions.

extends to larger energy depositions, meaning that high threshold experiments will see the same amount of annual modulation as low threshold experiments (albeit at lower overall event rate).

In Fig. 7 we study the annual modulation along a different axis; specifically, $f_{\rm mod}$ versus DM mass for different electron-hole pair thresholds, Q. For low DM masses $f_{\rm mod}$ becomes asymptotically large which is simply due to the shift in kinematically allowed DM masses. The lightest DM mass which can scatter is given by $m_{\chi} \gtrsim 2E_g/v_{\rm max}^2$, where $v_{\rm max} = v_e + v_{\rm esc}$. Therefore for different values of v_e , the lowest detectable DM mass changes. Higher values of v_e correspond to smaller DM masses, and therefore R_0 becomes kinematically inaccessible before R_+ as the DM mass decreases. This causes $f_{\rm mod}$ to diverge. At higher masses, $f_{\rm mod}$ generally levels off, except when deeply bound states get involved, e.g., the 3d shell in Ge, whose effects can be seen at $m_{\chi} \approx 20$ MeV in the bottom right panel of Fig. 7. The dependence on Q is also easily understood from Fig. 6; increasing the threshold picks out the pieces of the binned scattering rate which have larger $f_{\rm mod}$.

V. SUMMARY AND FUTURE DEVELOPMENT

EXCEED-DM has already been shown to be useful for a wide range of DM-electron interaction calculations: from target comparison studies [23] of DM-electron scattering, proof-of-principle daily modulation signals in anisotropic targets [23], extending the DM-electron scattering rate calculation



FIG. 7. Annual modulation fraction, f_{mod} , given in Eq. (52), as a function of DM mass in Si (top row) and Ge (bottom row) targets. The different colors correspond to different Q thresholds; the red, yellow, and green curves correspond to $Q \ge 1, 2, 3$, respectively.

to include higher energy and momentum contributions [44], performing first principles DM-electron absorption rate calculations [34], and DM-electron interaction rate calculations in spin orbit coupled target [24]. More recently the CDEX collaboration has used it to place constraints with their Ge detector [76], and EXCEED-DM has also been used in studies of non-standard neutrino interactions [93]. Clearly, EXCEED-DM has proved to be a useful tool for studying new physics, even before the v1.0.0 release.

The purpose of releasing a v1.0.0, and this manuscript, is to

- Introduce users to the inputs and formalism EXCEED-DMv1.0.0 works with.
- Rewrite the EXCEED-DMv0.3.0 codebase to provide a split between the electronic state approximations and observables being computed. This allows new calculations to be added without rewriting the transition matrix elements from scratch for each electronic state approximation.
- Perform new calculations which have been implemented, since v0.3.0, by complementing previous results. These new calculations represent the best available projections for Si and Ge based detectors used in SuperCDMS [62–64], DAMIC [65–69], EDELWEISS [70–72], SENSEI [73–75], and CDEX [76].

In Sec. IV A we compute the dielectric function with the same electronic configuration we use to compute the scattering rate in Ref. [44], providing the most accurate calculation of the DM-electron scattering rate in the kinetically mixed dark photon model. Then in Sec. IV B we compute the DM-electron scattering rate from an interaction that depends on the electron velocity; a model that was not calculable previously with a complete electronic configuration. In Sec. IV C we extend the results of the DM-electron absorption calculation to higher DM masses, up to $m_{\phi} = 1$ keV, and find good agreement with the measured dielectric function when expected. Lastly, in Sec. IV D we study the annual modulation of the DM-electron scattering rate in the kinetically mixed dark photon model, and confirm previous findings [50, 61] of $\mathcal{O}(10\%)$ annual modulation fractions. We also find that they persist for higher thresholds. We make public not only the EXCEED-DM codebase \bigcirc , but also the electronic configurations used e and the output of all the calculations performed here e so that results here can be reproduced, and used in future work. Additionally, we have created a documentation website e full of specific details about all inputs and outputs.

Future development of EXCEED-DM will focus on generalizing these results. From the electronic configuration aspect, adding a broader set of electronic wave function approximations to more accurately describe a variety of targets. Adding more calculations for different observables, a wider range of DM models, as well as velocity distributions. From the experimental side, connecting the EXCEED-DM output to more experimental projections, including backgrounds. Adding these components will allow experimentalists to maximize their search over DM model space, and in the event of a signal, aid in maximally understanding the fundamental properties of DM.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

I would like to thank Andrea Mitridate, Zhengkang Zhang and Kathryn M. Zurek for their help developing previous versions of EXCEED-DM, Sinéad Griffin and Katherine Inzani for their expertise in DFT calculations, and Bogdan Dobrescu for helpful discussions. This manuscript has been authored by Fermi Research Alliance, LLC under Contract No. DE-AC02-07CH11359 with the U.S. Department of Energy, Office of Science, Office of High Energy Physics. Early development of EXCEED-DM was supported by the Quantum Information Science Enabled Discovery (QuantISED) for High Energy Physics (KA2401032). The computations presented here were conducted on a combination of the Caltech High Performance Cluster, partially supported by a grant from the Gordon and Betty Moore Foundation, and the Wilson-Institutional Cluster at Fermilab.

Appendix A: Installation of EXCEED-DM

EXCEED-DM is hosted on Github \bigcirc , and releases are stored in EXCEED-DM.tar.gz files.To install EXCEED-DM, the .tar.gz file must first be downloaded and extracted. There are a few ways to do this. To download the latest release from the command line you can use curl,¹⁰

Command Line curl -LO https://github.com/tanner-trickle/EXCEED-DM/releases/latest/download/EXCEED-DM.tar.gz

Alternatively, you can visit the Releases section on the Github page, here, and download a specific release. Once the package has been downloaded, simply extract it to a folder titled, e.g., EXCEED-DM. Assuming you are in the folder with the EXCEED-DM.tar.gz file,

Command Line mkdir EXCEED-DM && cd EXCEED-DM tar -xzvf ../EXCEED-DM.tar.gz

With EXCEED-DM downloaded and extracted, we now need to compile the main exdm program. Before compiling make sure all of the necessary prerequisite software is installed: BLAS, LAPACK, CMake, FFTW3, HDF5, OpenMPI, along with a Fortran compiler. Once the prerequisites are installed the main executable, exdm, can be compiled with

¹⁰ Specific versions can be downloaded in a similar way, with slightly different command. See the documentation *experimentation* for more details.

Command Line			
mkdir build && cd	build		
cmake			
make			

assuming you start in the folder you extracted the EXCEED-DM.tar.gz file to. To check that exdm was built correctly we can try to run it with the,



command, which should return something similar to

Console Output			
·			
EXCEED-DM -	/1.0.0		
Running on 1 pr	o cessors		
	0000000		
Compiled with G	CC version 11.1.0		
Started at 16:52	:19.532 10/24/2022		
No input file specifi	ed, aborting.		

For further installation instructions see the documentation \blacksquare .

Appendix B: Effective Lagrangian to Scattering Form Factor

EXCEED-DM can compute DM-electron scattering rates that can be written in terms of the transition matrix elements in Eqs. (11) - (16). The main theoretical problem is then going from a UV Lagrangian to the scattering form factor, \mathscr{F}_{IF} , used in Eq. (18). At a high level, this is done in two steps: first, find the non-relativistic limit (NR) of the UV Lagrangian (see Refs. [34, 39] for a more detailed discussion of this step). Second, from the NR effective Lagrangian, use Fermi's Golden rule to compute the scattering rate, and reference cross section, and then manipulate the resulting formula to the form used in Eq. (18). The first step is well outside the scope of this paper. In this appendix we will focus on the second step, starting from a fairly generic NR effective Lagrangian, and deriving the scattering form factor directly in terms of the operators appearing in the NR effective Lagrangian. To illustrate the usefulness of this approach we will derive the scattering form factors for the two models focused on in the main text: the kinetically mixed dark

photon model, Secs. IV A, IV D, and the 'V-A' DM model in Sec. IV B.

Our starting point is the NR effective Lagrangian of a DM fermion, χ , coupling to the electron,

$$\mathcal{L}_{\text{eff}}^{\text{NR}} \supset \chi^{\dagger} \psi^{\dagger} \mathscr{O} \chi \psi \tag{B1}$$

where ψ, χ are the two component NR electron and DM fields, respectively, and \mathscr{O} is the interaction operator. χ and ψ each have units of $eV^{3/2}$, and \mathscr{O} has units of eV^{-2} . Assume an incoming DM particle with momentum **p** and spin *s* scatters off an electronic state $|I\rangle$, creating to an outgoing DM particle with momentum, $\mathbf{p}' = \mathbf{p} - \mathbf{q}$ (*q* is the momentum transferred to the target) and a final electronic state $|F\rangle$. Fermi's Golden Rule tells us that the transition rate due to the Lagrangian in Eq. (B1) is given by,

$$\Gamma_{I,\mathbf{p},s\to F,s'} = \frac{2\pi}{V} \int \frac{d^3\mathbf{q}}{(2\pi)^3} \delta(E_F - E_I - \omega_{\mathbf{q}}) |\langle F|e^{i\mathbf{q}\cdot\mathbf{x}}\mathscr{O}_{ss'}|I\rangle|^2,$$
(B2)

where E_I , E_F are the energies of the electronic states, $\omega_{\mathbf{q}} = \mathbf{q} \cdot \mathbf{v} - \frac{q^2}{2m_{\chi}}$, \mathbf{v} is the incoming DM velocity, and m_{χ} is the DM mass. The volume, V, and exponential factor come from the incoming and outgoing DM states, $\chi |\mathbf{p}, s\rangle = V^{-1/2} e^{i\mathbf{p}\cdot\mathbf{x}} \xi_s$, and $\xi_{\uparrow} = \begin{pmatrix} 1 \\ 0 \end{pmatrix}$, $\xi_{\downarrow} = \begin{pmatrix} 0 \\ 1 \end{pmatrix}$. $\mathscr{O}_{ss'}$ is simply the s, s' component of \mathcal{O} in Eq. (B1), i.e., $\mathscr{O}_{ss'} = \xi_{s'}^{\dagger} \mathscr{O} \xi_s$.

Assuming the DM is unpolarized we spin average (sum) over the initial (final) DM spin states in Eq. (B2) to get the spin average interaction rate,

$$\Gamma_{I,\mathbf{p}\to F} = \frac{2\pi}{V} \int \frac{d^3\mathbf{q}}{(2\pi)^3} \delta(E_F - E_I - \omega_{\mathbf{q}}) \overline{|\langle F|e^{i\mathbf{q}\cdot\mathbf{x}}\mathscr{O}_{ss'}|I\rangle|^2},$$
(B3)

where the overline notation indicates $(1/2) \sum_{ss'}$. Assuming the DM velocity distribution is given by $f_{\chi}(\mathbf{v})$ and $g(\mathbf{q}, \omega) \equiv 2\pi \int d^3 \mathbf{v} f_{\chi}(\mathbf{v}) \delta(\omega - \omega_{\mathbf{q}})$, the average transition rate between two electronic states becomes,

$$\Gamma_{I \to F} = \frac{1}{V} \int \frac{d^3 \mathbf{q}}{(2\pi)^3} g(\mathbf{q}, E_F - E_I) \overline{|\langle F| e^{i\mathbf{q} \cdot \mathbf{x}} \mathscr{O}_{ss'} |I\rangle|^2} \,. \tag{B4}$$

The transition rate per kg-year, R, is then simply this interaction rate multiplied by the number of DM particles in the target, divided by the target mass, and summed over initial and final states,

$$R = \frac{\rho_{\chi}}{m_{\chi}\rho_T V} \sum_{IF} \int \frac{d^3 \mathbf{q}}{(2\pi)^3} g(\mathbf{q}, E_F - E_I) \overline{|\langle F| e^{i\mathbf{q}\cdot\mathbf{x}} \mathscr{O}_{ss'} |I\rangle|^2},$$
(B5)

where ρ_{χ} is the DM density, and ρ_T is the target density. Eq. (B5) is most useful if one is interested in finding the rate as a function of the Lagrangian parameters in the NR EFT since it is *directly* related to the \mathscr{O} appearing in Eq. (B1). However, it is useful, and common practice, to write this rate in terms of a reference cross section, which is simply a function of the underlying Lagrangian parameters. In terms of \mathscr{O} , the reference cross section is given by,

$$\bar{\sigma}_e \equiv \frac{\mu_{\chi e}^2}{4\pi} \sum_{ss',\sigma\sigma'} |\mathscr{O}_{ss',\sigma\sigma'}|^2, \qquad (B6)$$

where $\mu_{\chi e}$ is the DM, electron reduced mass. This function is evaluated at reference momentum scales, e.g., $q = q_0 = \alpha m_e$, and ignores screening effects, $\varepsilon = 1$. We can now write Eq. (B5) in terms of the reference cross section. At the risk of abusing notation, we define,

$$\hat{\mathscr{O}}_{ss'} = \frac{\mathscr{O}_{ss'}}{\sqrt{\frac{1}{4}\sum_{ss',\sigma\sigma'}|\mathscr{O}_{ss'\sigma\sigma'}|^2}},\tag{B7}$$

and the rate can be written as,

$$R = \frac{\pi \rho_{\chi} \bar{\sigma}_e}{\mu_{\chi e}^2 m_{\chi} \rho_T V} \sum_{IF} \int \frac{d^3 \mathbf{q}}{(2\pi)^3} g(\mathbf{q}, E_F - E_I) \overline{|\langle F| e^{i\mathbf{q} \cdot \mathbf{x}} \hat{\mathcal{O}}_{ss'} |I\rangle|^2} \,. \tag{B8}$$

From here, the connection to Eq. (18) is a simple rearrangement, and we see that the scattering form factor is simply $\overline{|\langle F|e^{i\mathbf{q}\cdot\mathbf{x}}\hat{\mathcal{O}}_{ss'}|I\rangle|^2}$ with the propagator dependence factored out,

$$\mathscr{F}_{IF} = \frac{1}{f_{\mathrm{scr}}^2 \mathcal{F}_{\mathrm{med}}^2} \overline{|\langle F| e^{i\mathbf{q}\cdot\mathbf{x}} \hat{\mathscr{O}}_{ss'} |I\rangle|^2} \,. \tag{B9}$$

With Eq. (B9) we can compute the scattering form factor for the dark photon and 'VA' DM model. We begin with the dark photon model which has the UV Lagrangian,

$$\mathcal{L} \supset g_{\chi} V_{\mu} \bar{\chi} \gamma^{\mu} \chi + g_e V_{\mu} \bar{e} \gamma^{\mu} e \,, \tag{B10}$$

where V_{μ} is the dark photon and it has standard kinetic terms. If the coupling g_e is due to kinetic mixing, then $g_e = e\kappa$, where κ is the kinetic mixing parameter. It can be shown that the NR EFT Lagrangian and \mathcal{O} , are,

$$\mathcal{L}_{\text{eff}}^{\text{NR}} \supset \frac{g_e g_{\chi}}{\varepsilon(q,\omega) \left(q^2 + m_V^2\right)} \chi^{\dagger} \psi^{\dagger} \psi \chi \tag{B11}$$

$$\mathscr{O}_{ss',\sigma\sigma'} = \frac{g_e g_{\chi}}{\varepsilon(q,\omega) \left(q^2 + m_V^2\right)} \delta_{ss'} \delta_{\sigma\sigma'} , \qquad (B12)$$

for a material with an isotropic dielectric function, where m_V is the dark photon mass, and ω is the energy transferred to the target. We will find the scattering form factor in two limits, for a heavy and light dark photon. We begin by computing $\hat{\mathcal{O}}_{ss'}$,

$$\hat{\mathscr{O}}_{ss'} = \delta_{ss'} \frac{1}{\varepsilon(q,\omega)} \begin{cases} \frac{q_0^2}{q^2} & \text{light} \\ 1 & \text{heavy} \end{cases}$$
(B13)

In both cases, $f_{\rm scr} = 1/\varepsilon$, and $\mathcal{F}_{\rm med}$ takes its standard form for heavy and light mediators. The scattering form factor is the same in both the light and heavy dark photon models,

$$\mathscr{F}_{IF} = |\mathcal{T}_1|^2 \,. \tag{B14}$$

Moving on to the VA DM model we follow the same steps, first by writing down the UV Lagrangian,

$$\mathcal{L} \supset g_{\chi} V_{\mu} \bar{\chi} \gamma^{\mu} \chi + g_e V_{\mu} \bar{e} \gamma^{\mu} \gamma^5 e \,. \tag{B15}$$

Following Ref. [23, 34] after taking the NR limit of the currents and integrating out the dark photon, the NR effective Lagrangian is,

$$\mathcal{L}_{\text{eff}}^{\text{NR}} \supset \frac{g_{\chi}g_e}{q^2 + m_V^2} \chi^{\dagger \ \dagger} \left[\frac{\mathbf{K}_e \cdot \boldsymbol{\sigma}_e}{2m_e} - \frac{\mathbf{K}_{\chi} \cdot \boldsymbol{\sigma}_e}{2m_{\chi}} + \frac{i\boldsymbol{\sigma}_e \cdot (\mathbf{q} \times \boldsymbol{\sigma}_{\chi})}{2m_{\chi}} \right] \psi \chi \,, \tag{B16}$$

where $\mathbf{K}_e = 2\mathbf{k}_e + \mathbf{q}$, \mathbf{k}_e is the electron momentum, $\mathbf{K}_{\chi} = 2\mathbf{k}_{\chi} - \mathbf{q}$, \mathbf{k}_{χ} is the DM momentum, and σ_{χ} (σ_e) are the Pauli matrices acting in DM (electron) space. Contrary to the kinetically mixed dark photon model, there is no screening. Since the dark photon couples to electrons via the spin operator, σ_e , there is no mixing between the dark photon-photon to generate screening terms.

The NR effective Lagrangian in Eq. (B16) can be further simplified since the last two terms are of order $\mathcal{O}(v_{\chi})$, whereas the first term is $\mathcal{O}(v_e)$. Since $v_e \sim \alpha \sim 10^{-2}$ the first term will dominate and we will approximate the interaction with just the first term. Therefore,

$$\hat{\mathscr{O}}_{ss'} = \mathcal{F}_{\text{med}} \frac{\mathbf{K}_e \cdot \boldsymbol{\sigma}_e}{K_e^0} \delta_{ss'} \tag{B17}$$

where K_e^0 is some reference momentum, which we take to be αm_e . Therefore the scattering form factor is,

$$\mathscr{F}_{IF} = \frac{1}{(\alpha m_e)^2} \left[4m_e^2 \left| \mathcal{T}_{\mathbf{v}\cdot\boldsymbol{\sigma}} \right|^2 + 2m_e \mathcal{T}_{\mathbf{v}\cdot\boldsymbol{\sigma}} \left(\mathbf{q} \cdot \mathcal{T}_{\boldsymbol{\sigma}} \right)^* + 2m_e \mathcal{T}_{\mathbf{v}\cdot\boldsymbol{\sigma}}^* \left(\mathbf{q} \cdot \mathcal{T}_{\boldsymbol{\sigma}} \right) + \left| \mathbf{q} \cdot \mathcal{T}_{\boldsymbol{\sigma}} \right|^2 \right] \,. \tag{B18}$$

This scattering form factor can be further simplified for targets which have spin degenerate eigenstates, since the electron spin sum can be performed analytically. Performing the electron spin sum, $(1/2) \sum_{\sigma\sigma'}$, gives,

$$\mathscr{F}_{IF} = \frac{1}{(\alpha m_e)^2} \left[4m_e^2 \left| \mathcal{T}_{\mathbf{v}} \right|^2 + 2m_e \left(\mathbf{q} \cdot \mathcal{T}_{\mathbf{v}} \right) \mathcal{T}_1^* + 2m_e \left(\mathbf{q} \cdot \mathcal{T}_{\mathbf{v}}^* \right) \mathcal{T}_1 + q^2 |\mathcal{T}_1|^2 \right] \,. \tag{B19}$$

where I, F are now just the band labels.

Appendix C: Transition Matrix Elements for Bloch States

We will discuss the explicit derivation of the transition matrix elements, $\langle I|\mathcal{O}|F\rangle$ for the Bloch states discussed in Sec. II A. Note that since bloch_PW_basis, bloch_STO_basis, bloch_single_PW are simply different bases of the same approximation, these formula hold for all them. We begin with an insertion of the identity, $1 = (1/V) \sum_{s} \int d^3 \mathbf{x} |\mathbf{x}, s\rangle \langle \mathbf{x}, s|$, where V is the target volume,

$$\mathcal{T}_{i,f,\mathbf{k},\mathbf{k}'} = \frac{1}{V} \sum_{s} \int d^3 \mathbf{x} \, e^{i(\mathbf{q}-\mathbf{k}')\cdot\mathbf{x}} u^*_{f,\mathbf{k}',s}(\mathbf{x}) \langle \mathbf{x}, s | \hat{\mathcal{O}} | I \rangle \,, \tag{C1}$$

where $\hat{\mathcal{O}}$ is an operator inside the \mathcal{T} 's in Eqs. (11) - (16) without the $e^{i\mathbf{q}\cdot\mathbf{x}}$ term. All of these $\hat{\mathcal{O}}$ are diagonal in momentum space, therefore it is simplest to insert a momentum space identity,

$$\langle \mathbf{x}, s | \hat{\mathcal{O}} | I \rangle = V \sum_{s'} \int \frac{d^3 \mathbf{p}}{(2\pi)^3} e^{i \mathbf{p} \cdot \mathbf{x}} \mathcal{O}_{ss'}(\mathbf{p}) \langle \mathbf{p}, s' | I \rangle.$$
(C2)

One can further show that,

$$\langle \mathbf{p}, s | I \rangle = \frac{1}{V} \sum_{\mathbf{G}, s'} \widetilde{u}_{i, \mathbf{k}, s', \mathbf{G}} \delta^3(\mathbf{k} + \mathbf{G} - \mathbf{p}), \qquad (C3)$$

and therefore

$$\langle \mathbf{x}, s | \hat{\mathcal{O}} | I \rangle \equiv e^{i\mathbf{k}\cdot\mathbf{x}} \left[\hat{\mathcal{O}} \cdot u \right]_{i,\mathbf{k},s} = e^{i\mathbf{k}\cdot\mathbf{x}} \sum_{\mathbf{G},s} \mathcal{O}_{s,s'}(\mathbf{k}+\mathbf{G}) \widetilde{u}_{i,\mathbf{k},s',\mathbf{G}} e^{i\mathbf{G}\cdot\mathbf{x}} , \qquad (C4)$$

where we have introduced some convenient shorthand notation [] for application of the operator in Fourier space, and $\mathcal{O}_{ss'}(\mathbf{p}) \equiv \langle \mathbf{p}, s | \hat{\mathcal{O}} | \mathbf{p}, s' \rangle$.¹¹

Substituting Eq. (C4) in to Eq. (C1), and using the periodicity of u, then gives,

$$\mathcal{T}_{i,f,\mathbf{k}\mathbf{k}'} = \frac{1}{V} \sum_{s} \int d^3 \mathbf{x} e^{i(\mathbf{q}-\mathbf{k}'+\mathbf{k})\cdot\mathbf{x}} u^*_{f,\mathbf{k}',s} \left[\mathcal{O}\cdot u\right]_{i,\mathbf{k},s}$$
(C5)

$$= \sum_{\mathbf{G}} \delta_{\mathbf{q},\mathbf{k}'-\mathbf{k}+\mathbf{G}} \frac{1}{\Omega} \sum_{s} \int_{\mathrm{UC}} d^3 \mathbf{x} \, e^{i\mathbf{G}\cdot\mathbf{x}} u_{f,\mathbf{k}',s}^* \, [\mathcal{O}\cdot u]_{i,\mathbf{k},s} \tag{C6}$$

where UC indicates a sum of the unit cell. Note that, as a result of crystal lattice momentum conservation, \mathcal{T} only has support at the kinematically allowed points, $\mathbf{q} = \mathbf{k}' - \mathbf{k} + \mathbf{G}$. Alternatively we can simplify this as,

$$\mathcal{T}_{i,f,\mathbf{k},\mathbf{k}'}(\mathbf{q} = \mathbf{k}' - \mathbf{k} + \mathbf{G}) = \frac{1}{\Omega} \sum_{s} \int_{\mathrm{UC}} d^3 \mathbf{x} \, e^{i\mathbf{G}\cdot\mathbf{x}} u_{f,\mathbf{k}',s}^* \left[\mathcal{O}\cdot u\right]_{i,\mathbf{k},s} \,, \tag{C7}$$

¹¹ In words, the procedure to compute $[\mathcal{O} \cdot u]$ is compute u, Fourier transform it to find \tilde{u} , apply the \mathcal{O} operator in momentum space, then Fourier transform back.

which is the transition matrix element that gets computed for every pair of crystal electronic states.

- [1] P. A. Zyla et al. (Particle Data Group), PTEP 2020, 083C01 (2020).
- [2] D. S. Akerib *et al.* (LZ), (2015), arXiv:1509.02910 [physics.ins-det].
- [3] R. Agnese et al. (SuperCDMS), Phys. Rev. Lett. 112, 241302 (2014), arXiv:1402.7137 [hep-ex].
- [4] J. Amaré et al., Phys. Rev. Lett. 123, 031301 (2019), arXiv:1903.03973 [astro-ph.IM].
- [5] H. Kluck et al. (CRESST), J. Phys. Conf. Ser. 1468, 012038 (2020).
- [6] M. Antonello et al. (SABRE), Eur. Phys. J. C 79, 363 (2019), arXiv:1806.09340 [physics.ins-det].
- [7] R. Bernabei et al., Prog. Part. Nucl. Phys. 114, 103810 (2020).
- [8] X. Cui et al. (PandaX-II), Phys. Rev. Lett. 119, 181302 (2017), arXiv:1708.06917 [astro-ph.CO].
- [9] A. Aguilar-Arevalo et al. (DAMIC), Phys. Rev. D 94, 082006 (2016), arXiv:1607.07410 [astro-ph.CO].
- [10] Q. Arnaud et al. (NEWS-G), Astropart. Phys. 97, 54 (2018), arXiv:1706.04934 [astro-ph.IM].
- [11] E. Aprile et al. (XENON100), Phys. Rev. Lett. 109, 181301 (2012), arXiv:1207.5988 [astro-ph.CO].
- [12] E. Aprile et al. (XENON), Phys. Rev. Lett. 121, 111302 (2018), arXiv:1805.12562 [astro-ph.CO].
- [13] J. Angle et al. (XENON), Phys. Rev. Lett. 100, 021303 (2008), arXiv:0706.0039 [astro-ph].
- [14] K. Kim (KIMS), in Meeting of the APS Division of Particles and Fields (2015) arXiv:1511.00023 [physics.ins-det].
- [15] J. H. Jo (DM-Ice), PoS ICHEP2016, 1223 (2017), arXiv:1612.07426 [physics.ins-det].
- [16] P. Agnes et al. (DarkSide), Phys. Rev. Lett. 121, 081307 (2018), arXiv:1802.06994 [astro-ph.HE].
- [17] S. Knapen, T. Lin, and K. M. Zurek, Phys. Rev. D 96, 115021 (2017), arXiv:1709.07882 [hep-ph].
- [18] J. Cooley, T. Lin, W. H. Lippincott, T. R. Slatyer, T.-T. Yu, D. S. Akerib, T. Aramaki, D. Baxter, T. Bringmann, R. Bunker, D. Carney, S. Cebrián, T. Y. Chen, P. Cushman, C. E. Dahl, R. Essig, A. Fan, R. Gaitskell, C. Galbiati, G. B. Gelmini, G. K. Giovanetti, G. Giroux, L. Grandi, J. P. Harding, S. Haselschwardt, L. Hsu, S. Horiuchi, Y. Kahn, D. Kim, G.-B. Kim, S. Kravitz, V. A. Kudryavtsev, N. Kurinsky, R. F. Lang, R. K. Leane, B. V. Lehmann, C. Levy, S. Li, B. Loer, A. Manalaysay, C. J. Martoff, G. Mohlabeng, M. E. Monzani, A. S. J. Murphy, R. Neilson, H. N. Nelson, C. A. J. O'Hare, K. J. Palladino, A. Parikh, J.-C. Park, K. Perez, S. Profumo, N. Raj, B. M. Roach, T. Saab, M. L. Sarsa, R. Schnee, S. Shaw, S. Shin, K. Sinha, K. Stifter, A. Suzuki, M. Szydagis, T. M. P. Tait, V. Takhistov, Y.-D. Tsai, S. E. Vahsen, E. Vitagliano, P. von Doetinchem, G. Wang, S. Westerdale, D. A. Williams, X. Xiang, and L. Yang, *Report of the Topical Group on Particle Dark Matter for Snowmass 2021*, Tech. Rep. (2022) arXiv:2209.07426 [astro-ph, physics:hep-ex, physics:hep-ph] type: article.
- [19] R. Essig, Y. Kahn, S. Knapen, A. Ringwald, and N. Toro, *Snowmass2021 Theory Frontier: Theory Meets the Lab*, Tech. Rep. (2022) arXiv:2203.10089 [hep-ex, physics:hep-ph] type: article.
- [20] A. Mitridate, T. Trickle, Z. Zhang, and K. M. Zurek, Snowmass White Paper: Light Dark Matter

Direct Detection at the Interface With Condensed Matter Physics, Tech. Rep. (2022) arXiv:2203.07492 [astro-ph, physics:cond-mat, physics:hep-ph] type: article.

- [21] R. Essig, G. K. Giovanetti, N. Kurinsky, D. McKinsey, K. Ramanathan, K. Stifter, and T.-T. Yu, Snowmass2021 Cosmic Frontier: The landscape of low-threshold dark matter direct detection in the next decade, Tech. Rep. (2022) arXiv:2203.08297 [astro-ph, physics:hep-ex, physics:hep-ph] type: article.
- [22] Y. Kahn and T. Lin, Rept. Prog. Phys. 85, 066901 (2022), arXiv:2108.03239 [hep-ph].
- [23] T. Trickle, Z. Zhang, K. M. Zurek, K. Inzani, and S. Griffin, JHEP 03, 036, arXiv:1910.08092 [hep-ph].
- [24] H.-Y. Chen, A. Mitridate, T. Trickle, Z. Zhang, M. Bernardi, and K. M. Zurek, arXiv:2202.11716 [cond-mat, physics:hep-ph] https://doi.org/10.48550/arXiv.2202.11716 (2022).
- [25] T. N. Maity, T. S. Ray, and S. Sarkar, arXiv:2011.12896 [astro-ph, physics:hep-ph] (2020), arXiv: 2011.12896.
- [26] A. Radick, A.-M. Taki, and T.-T. Yu, JCAP 02, 004, arXiv:2011.02493 [hep-ph].
- [27] H. B. T. Tan, A. Derevianko, V. A. Dzuba, and V. V. Flambaum, Phys. Rev. Lett. 127, 081301 (2021), arXiv:2105.08296 [hep-ph].
- [28] A. Derevianko, V. A. Dzuba, V. V. Flambaum, and M. Pospelov, Phys. Rev. D 82, 065006 (2010), arXiv:1007.1833 [hep-ph].
- [29] V. A. Dzuba, V. V. Flambaum, and M. Pospelov, Phys. Rev. D 81, 103520 (2010), arXiv:1002.2979 [hep-ph].
- [30] C. Blanco, Y. Kahn, B. Lillard, and S. D. McDermott, Phys. Rev. D 104, 036011 (2021), arXiv:2103.08601 [hep-ph].
- [31] M. Heikinheimo, K. Nordlund, K. Tuominen, and N. Mirabolfathi, Phys. Rev. D 99, 103018 (2019), arXiv:1903.08654 [hep-ph].
- [32] T. Emken, R. Essig, C. Kouvaris, and M. Sholapurkar, JCAP 09, 070, arXiv:1905.06348 [hep-ph].
- [33] G. Cavoto, F. Luchetta, and A. D. Polosa, Phys. Lett. B 776, 338 (2018), arXiv:1706.02487 [hep-ph].
- [34] A. Mitridate, T. Trickle, Z. Zhang, and K. M. Zurek, JHEP 09, 123, arXiv:2106.12586 [hep-ph].
- [35] G. B. Gelmini, V. Takhistov, and E. Vitagliano, Phys. Lett. B 809, 135779 (2020), arXiv:2006.13909 [hep-ph].
- [36] Z.-L. Liang, L. Zhang, P. Zhang, and F. Zheng, JHEP 01, 149, arXiv:1810.13394 [cond-mat.mtrl-sci].
- [37] F. Kadribasic, N. Mirabolfathi, K. Nordlund, A. E. Sand, E. Holmström, and F. Djurabekova, Phys. Rev. Lett. 120, 111301 (2018), arXiv:1703.05371 [physics.ins-det].
- [38] R. Catena, T. Emken, M. Matas, N. A. Spaldin, and E. Urdshals, Phys. Rev. Res. 3, 033149 (2021), arXiv:2105.02233 [hep-ph].
- [39] R. Catena, D. Cole, T. Emken, M. Matas, N. Spaldin, W. Tarantino, and E. Urdshals, *Dark matter electron interactions in materials beyond the dark photon model*, Tech. Rep. (2022) arXiv:2210.07305 [astro-ph, physics:hep-ph] type: article.
- [40] S. Knapen, J. Kozaczuk, and T. Lin, Phys. Rev. D 104, 015031 (2021), arXiv:2101.08275 [hep-ph].

- [41] C. Blanco, J. I. Collar, Y. Kahn, and B. Lillard, Phys. Rev. D 101, 056001 (2020), arXiv:1912.02822 [hep-ph].
- [42] S. Knapen, J. Kozaczuk, and T. Lin, Phys. Rev. D 105, 015014 (2022), arXiv:2104.12786 [hep-ph].
- [43] Y. Hochberg, Y. Kahn, N. Kurinsky, B. V. Lehmann, T. C. Yu, and K. K. Berggren, Phys. Rev. Lett. 127, 151802 (2021), arXiv:2101.08263 [hep-ph].
- [44] S. M. Griffin, K. Inzani, T. Trickle, Z. Zhang, and K. M. Zurek, Phys. Rev. D 104, 095015 (2021), arXiv:2105.05253 [hep-ph].
- [45] Y. Hochberg, Y. Kahn, M. Lisanti, C. G. Tully, and K. M. Zurek, Phys. Lett. B 772, 239 (2017), arXiv:1606.08849 [hep-ph].
- [46] Y. Hochberg, Y. Kahn, M. Lisanti, K. M. Zurek, A. G. Grushin, R. Ilan, S. M. Griffin, Z.-F. Liu, S. F. Weber, and J. B. Neaton, Phys. Rev. D 97, 015004 (2018), arXiv:1708.08929 [hep-ph].
- [47] I. M. Bloch, R. Essig, K. Tobioka, T. Volansky, and T.-T. Yu, JHEP 06, 087, arXiv:1608.02123 [hep-ph].
- [48] S. Derenzo, R. Essig, A. Massari, A. Soto, and T.-T. Yu, Phys. Rev. D 96, 016026 (2017), arXiv:1607.01009 [hep-ph].
- [49] R. Essig, J. Mardon, and T. Volansky, Phys. Rev. D 85, 076007 (2012), arXiv:1108.5383 [hep-ph].
- [50] R. Essig, M. Fernandez-Serra, J. Mardon, A. Soto, T. Volansky, and T.-T. Yu, JHEP 05, 046, arXiv:1509.01598 [hep-ph].
- [51] P. W. Graham, D. E. Kaplan, S. Rajendran, and M. T. Walters, Phys. Dark Univ. 1, 32 (2012), arXiv:1203.2531 [hep-ph].
- [52] S. M. Griffin, K. Inzani, T. Trickle, Z. Zhang, and K. M. Zurek, Phys. Rev. D 101, 055004 (2020), arXiv:1910.10716 [hep-ph].
- [53] S. M. Griffin, Y. Hochberg, K. Inzani, N. Kurinsky, T. Lin, and T. Chin, Phys. Rev. D 103, 075002 (2021), arXiv:2008.08560 [hep-ph].
- [54] Y. Hochberg, M. Pyle, Y. Zhao, and K. M. Zurek, JHEP 08, 057, arXiv:1512.04533 [hep-ph].
- [55] Y. Hochberg, Y. Zhao, and K. M. Zurek, Phys. Rev. Lett. **116**, 011301 (2016), arXiv:1504.07237 [hep-ph].
- [56] A. Coskuner, A. Mitridate, A. Olivares, and K. M. Zurek, Phys. Rev. D 103, 016006 (2021), arXiv:1909.09170 [hep-ph].
- [57] R. M. Geilhufe, F. Kahlhoefer, and M. W. Winkler, Phys. Rev. D 101, 055005 (2020), arXiv:1910.02091
 [hep-ph].
- [58] Y. Hochberg, T. Lin, and K. M. Zurek, Phys. Rev. D 94, 015019 (2016), arXiv:1604.06800 [hep-ph].
- [59] Y. Hochberg, T. Lin, and K. M. Zurek, Phys. Rev. D 95, 023013 (2017), arXiv:1608.01994 [hep-ph].
- [60] N. A. Kurinsky, T. C. Yu, Y. Hochberg, and B. Cabrera, Phys. Rev. D 99, 123005 (2019), arXiv:1901.07569 [hep-ex].
- [61] S. K. Lee, M. Lisanti, S. Mishra-Sharma, and B. R. Safdi, Phys. Rev. D 92, 083517 (2015), arXiv:1508.07361 [hep-ph].

- [62] D. W. Amaral et al. (SuperCDMS), Phys. Rev. D 102, 091101 (2020), arXiv:2005.14067 [hep-ex].
- [63] R. Agnese *et al.* (SuperCDMS), Phys. Rev. Lett. **121**, 051301 (2018), [Erratum: Phys.Rev.Lett. 122, 069901 (2019)], arXiv:1804.10697 [hep-ex].
- [64] Z. Ahmed et al. (CDMS), Phys. Rev. Lett. 103, 141802 (2009), arXiv:0902.4693 [hep-ex].
- [65] A. Aguilar-Arevalo *et al.* (DAMIC), Phys. Rev. Lett. **125**, 241803 (2020), arXiv:2007.15622 [astro-ph.CO].
- [66] A. Aguilar-Arevalo *et al.* (DAMIC), Phys. Rev. Lett. **118**, 141803 (2017), arXiv:1611.03066 [astro-ph.CO].
- [67] M. Settimo (DAMIC, DAMIC-M), in 16th Rencontres du Vietnam: Theory meeting experiment: Particle Astrophysics and Cosmology (2020) arXiv:2003.09497 [hep-ex].
- [68] J. R. T. de Mello Neto et al. (DAMIC), PoS ICRC2015, 1221 (2016), arXiv:1510.02126 [physics.insdet].
- [69] A. Aguilar-Arevalo *et al.* (DAMIC), Phys. Rev. Lett. **123**, 181802 (2019), arXiv:1907.12628 [astro-ph.CO].
- [70] E. Armengaud et al. (EDELWEISS), Phys. Rev. D 98, 082004 (2018), arXiv:1808.02340 [hep-ex].
- [71] E. Armengaud et al. (EDELWEISS), Phys. Rev. D 99, 082003 (2019), arXiv:1901.03588 [astro-ph.GA].
- [72] Q. Arnaud et al. (EDELWEISS), Phys. Rev. Lett. 125, 141301 (2020), arXiv:2003.01046 [astro-ph.GA].
- M. Crisler, R. Essig, J. Estrada, G. Fernandez, J. Tiffenberg, M. Sofo haro, T. Volansky, and T.-T. Yu (SENSEI), Phys. Rev. Lett. 121, 061803 (2018), arXiv:1804.00088 [hep-ex].
- [74] L. Barak et al. (SENSEI), Phys. Rev. Lett. 125, 171802 (2020), arXiv:2004.11378 [astro-ph.CO].
- [75] O. Abramoff et al. (SENSEI), Phys. Rev. Lett. 122, 161801 (2019), arXiv:1901.10478 [hep-ex].
- [76] Z. Y. Zhang, L. T. Yang, Q. Yue, K. J. Kang, Y. J. Li, M. Agartioglu, H. P. An, J. P. Chang, Y. H. Chen, J. P. Cheng, W. H. Dai, Z. Deng, C. H. Fang, X. P. Geng, H. Gong, Q. J. Guo, X. Y. Guo, L. He, S. M. He, J. W. Hu, H. X. Huang, T. C. Huang, H. T. Jia, X. Jiang, H. B. Li, J. M. Li, J. Li, M. X. Li, Q. Y. Li, R. M. J. Li, X. Q. Li, Y. L. Li, Y. F. Liang, B. Liao, F. K. Lin, S. T. Lin, S. K. Liu, Y. Liu, Y. D. Liu, Y. Y. Liu, Z. Z. Liu, H. Ma, Y. C. Mao, Q. Y. Nie, J. H. Ning, H. Pan, N. C. Qi, J. Ren, X. C. Ruan, K. Saraswat, C. S. Shang, V. Sharma, Z. She, M. K. Singh, T. X. Sun, C. J. Tang, W. Y. Tang, Y. Tian, G. F. Wang, L. Wang, Q. Wang, Y. Wang, Y. X. Wang, H. T. Wong, S. Y. Wu, Y. C. Wu, H. Y. Xing, R. Xu, Y. Xu, T. Xue, Y. L. Yan, C. H. Yeh, N. Yi, C. X. Yu, H. J. Yu, J. F. Yue, M. Zeng, Z. Zeng, B. T. Zhang, F. S. Zhang, L. Zhang, Z. H. Zhang, K. K. Zhao, M. G. Zhao, J. F. Zhou, Z. Y. Zhou, and J. J. Zhu, *Constraints on Sub-GeV Dark Matter-Electron Scattering from the CDEX-10 Experiment*, Tech. Rep. (2022) arXiv:2206.04128 [hep-ex, physics:hep-ph, physics:physics] type: article.
- [77] K. Inzani, A. Faghaninia, and S. M. Griffin, Phys. Rev. Res. 3, 013069 (2021), arXiv:2008.05062 [cond-mat.mtrl-sci].
- [78] Y. Kahn, M. E. Monzani, K. J. Palladino, T. Anderson, D. Bard, D. Baxter, M. Buuck, C. Cartaro, J. I. Collar, M. Diamond, A. Fan, S. Knapen, S. Kravitz, R. F. Lang, B. Nachman, I. O. Samblas,

I. Ostrovskiy, A. Parikh, Q. Riffard, A. Roberts, K. Stifter, M. Szydagis, C. Tunnell, B. von Krosigk, D. Wright, T.-T. Yu, D. Akerib, R. Bunker, G. B. Gelmini, D. Kim, J.-C. Park, T. Saab, R. Singh, S. Su, Y.-D. Tsai, and S. Westerdale, *Snowmass2021 Cosmic Frontier: Modeling, statistics, simulations, and computing needs for direct dark matter detection*, Tech. Rep. (2022) arXiv:2203.07700 [hep-ex, physics:physics] type: article.

- [79] T. Trickle and Kinzani, tanner-trickle/exceed-dm: Exceed-dm-v0.3.0 (2022).
- [80] P. Giannozzi et al., Journal of Physics: Condensed Matter 21, 395502 (19pp) (2009).
- [81] P. Giannozzi et al., Journal of Physics: Condensed Matter 29, 465901 (2017).
- [82] G. Kresse and J. Furthmüller, Physical Review B 54, 11169 (1996).
- [83] G. Kresse and D. Joubert, Physical Review B 59, 1758 (1999).
- [84] G. Kresse and J. Hafner, Phys. Rev. B 47, 558 (1993).
- [85] G. Kresse and J. Hafner, Phys. Rev. B 49, 14251 (1994).
- [86] C. Bunge, J. Barrientos, and A. Bunge, Atom. Data Nucl. Data Tabl. 53, 113 (1993).
- [87] D. Belkić and H. S. Taylor, Physica Scripta **39**, 226 (1989).
- [88] N. W. Evans, C. A. J. O'Hare, and C. McCabe, arXiv:1810.11468 [astro-ph, physics:hep-ex, physics:hep-ph] (2018), arXiv: 1810.11468.
- [89] D. Baxter et al., Eur. Phys. J. C 81, 907 (2021), arXiv:2105.00599 [hep-ex].
- [90] G. Cappellini, R. D. Sole, L. Reining, and F. Bechstedt, Physical Review B 47, 9892 (1993).
- [91] D. Sangalli, J. A. Berger, C. Attaccalite, M. Grüning, and P. Romaniello, Phys. Rev. B 95, 155203 (2017).
- [92] N. W. Ashcroft, Solid state physics (Holt, Rinehart and Winston, 1976) p. 826.
- [93] B. Dutta, S. Ghosh, T. Li, A. Thompson, and A. Verma, Non-standard neutrino interactions in light mediator models at reactor experiments, Tech. Rep. (2022) arXiv:2209.13566 [hep-ph] type: article.
- [94] M. Fabbrichesi, E. Gabrielli, and G. Lanfranchi 10.1007/978-3-030-62519-1 (2020), arXiv:2005.01515
 [hep-ph].
- [95] Y. Kahn, G. Krnjaic, S. Mishra-Sharma, and T. M. P. Tait, JHEP 05, 002, arXiv:1609.09072 [hep-ph].
- [96] Handbook of Optical Constants of Solids (Elsevier, 1985).
- [97] E. Hardy and R. Lasenby, JHEP 02, 033, arXiv:1611.05852 [hep-ph].
- [98] M. M. Miller Bertolami, B. E. Melendez, L. G. Althaus, and J. Isern, JCAP 10, 069, arXiv:1406.7712 [hep-ph].
- [99] E. Aprile et al. (XENON), Phys. Rev. Lett. 123, 251801 (2019), arXiv:1907.11485 [hep-ex].
- [100] T. Aralis et al. (SuperCDMS), Phys. Rev. D 101, 052008 (2020), [Erratum: Phys.Rev.D 103, 039901 (2021)], arXiv:1911.11905 [hep-ex].
- [101] A. K. Drukier, K. Freese, and D. N. Spergel, Phys. Rev. D 33, 3495 (1986).
- [102] A. M. Green, Phys. Rev. D 68, 023004 (2003), [Erratum: Phys.Rev.D 69, 109902 (2004)], arXiv:astroph/0304446.
- [103] K. Freese, M. Lisanti, and C. Savage, Rev. Mod. Phys. 85, 1561 (2013), arXiv:1209.3339 [astro-ph.CO].